
 

 
Children's Commissioning Committee  
 
Dear Member, 

 
You are invited to attend the meeting of the Children's Commissioning Committee to 
be held as follows for the transaction of the business indicated. 

David Wilcock 
Monitoring Officer 

 

DATE: Wednesday, 8 September 2021 

 
TIME:  9.30 am 

 
VENUE: Microsoft Teams Meeting 

 
 

AGENDA 

 
1   Apologies for Absence.  

 

 

2   Declarations of Interest.  

 

 

3   Draft minutes of the meeting held on 14 July 2021.  

 
(Pages 1 - 6) 

4   Matters arising.  

 

 

5   Finance Report. (David Warhurst)  

 

(Pages 7 - 14) 

6   Domestic Abuse Business Case (Madha Ayub / Charlotte 

Ramsden)  

 

(Pages 15 - 50) 

7   Community Paediatrics Service Specification and Business Case 

(Tori Quinn / Wendy Hodgson)  

 

(Pages 51 - 86) 

8   0-25 Highlight reports from sub groups. (For Information)  

 
(Pages 87 - 92) 

9   Urgent Business - Part 1.  

 

 

10   Exclusion of the Public.  

 

 

11   Urgent Business - Part 2.  

 

 

12   Date and time of next meeting - Wednesday 10 November 2021 at 
9.30am  

 

Public Document Pack



 

 
 

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 3011 
Mike McHugh, Senior Democratic Services Officer E-Mail: mike.mchugh@salford.gov.uk 



 

CHILDREN’S COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE 

 

Wednesday 14 July 2021, 09:30 – 11:20 

 

Present 

 

Nick Browne (NB) (Chair) Clinical Director of Partnerships / Neighbourhood 

Lead - CCG 

Councillor Jim Cammell Lead Member for Children’s and Young People’s 

Services - SCC 

Steve Dixon (SD) Chief Accountable Officer - CCG 

David Warhurst (DW)   Chief Finance Officer - CCG 

Councillor John Walsh (JW) Executive Support Member for Education and  

     Learning - SCC 

Councillor Bill Hinds (BH)  Lead Member for Finance and Support Services - 

     SCC  

Tom Regan (TR)   Clinical Lead for Transformation - CCG 

 

In Attendance 

 

Debbie Blackburn (BD) Assistant Director Public Health Nursing and 

Wellbeing - SCC 

Harry Golby (HG)   Assistant Director of Commissioning - CCG 

Emma Reid (ER) Joint Head of Planning and Performance - 

SCC/CCG 

Geoff Catterall (GC) Head of Complex Needs (SEN) - SCC 

Mike McHugh (MM)   Senior Democratic Services Advisor - SCC 

 

Apologies 

 

Muna Abdel Aziz (MAA) 

Karen Proctor (KP) 

Charlotte Ramsden (CR) 

Chris Hesketh (CH) 

 

1. Apologies for Absence 

 

The above apologies were noted. 

 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



2. Declarations of Interest 

 

There were no declarations of interest in any of the items on the agenda. 

 
3. Draft Minutes of the Meeting held on 15 May 2021 

 

RESOLVED: THAT the minutes of the meeting held on 15 May 2021 be circulated to 

members of the Committee.  

 

4. Matters arising 

 

There were no matters arising. 

 

5. Integrated Commissioning Annual Plan for Children’s services 2021/22 

 

ER submitted a report which provided details of the commissioning work plan for 

2021/22 for children’s services.  

 

The plan outlined the high-level priorities for children’s services from 1 April 2021 

until 31 March 2022 to ensure the CCG and City Council played a leading role in 

delivering the Salford Locality Plan for local people. 

 

The background to the planning for the year was summarised and it was confirmed 

that delivery against the plan would be reported at meetings of the committee 

throughout the year. 

 

It was noted that a draft copy of the Integrated Commissioning Annual Plan for 

2021/22 was shared with the Health and Care Commissioning Board (HCCB) on 16 

June 2021. As in previous years, the HCCB was asked to delegate authority for 

approval of the final plan as follows: 

 

•  Adults Commissioning Committee – Adults Plan 

•  Children’s Commissioning Committee – Children’s and Maternity Plan 

•  Primary Care Commissioning Committee – Primary Care Plan 

•  CCG Executive Team – Quality, safety, research and innovation and Enablers 

 sections of the plan. 

 

It was not anticipated that there would be any significant changes to the plan. 

However, it was noted that during this time of ongoing uncertainty, this annual plan, 

would remain a dynamic document which would be updated as required throughout 

the year. 

 

RESOLVED: THAT the Children’s Commissioning Work Plan be approved. 

 

 

 

Page 2



 

 

6. Finance Report 

 

DW presented a report which paper provided the Children’s Commissioning 

Committee with an overview of the opening budgets for 2021/22 along with an 
update relating to the Year-To-Date (YTD) financial performance and forecast and 

associated risks to the financial plan of the Children’s Integrated Fund for 2021/22. 
  
In 2020/21 the Children’s integrated fund (IF) had a projected overspend against 

available funding of £2.5m, which had increased by £0.4m, consequently the 
financial overspend for 2021/22 was now £2.9m. This allowed funding of £1.3m for 

system priorities to be invested in year. 
 
Whilst the Health and Care Commissioning Board (HCCB) signed off the adults’ 

£2.9m opening financial risk, as always, the system should aspire to achieve a 
financially sustainable position.  

 
Further information was provided in respect of - 
 

- the key planning assumptions and detail around the Children’s integrated fund 
 plan for 2021/22. 

 
- the main areas of over and under performance within the Fund against the 
 approved IF plan for 2021/22. 

 
- an update on the investment decisions that form part of the Children’s 

 plan for 2021/22. 
 
- the key risks and issues associated with delivering the 2021/22 plan for the 

 Children’s integrated fund. 
 

- an update on the saving programme required in 2021/22 for the plan to be 
 able to be achieved. 
 

RESOLVED: (1) THAT the Children’s integrated fund plan for 2021/22 be noted. 
 

  (2) THAT the financial position for 2021/22 be noted. 
 
  (3) THAT the risks to the Children’s integrated fund for 2021/22 be 

noted. 
 

  (4) THAT the savings programme for 2021/22 to deliver a balanced 
plan be noted. 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 3



7. Future commissioning of Ingleside Birth & Community Centre 

 

KP presented a report which provided details of proposals for the future 

commissioning at Ingleside Birth and Community Centre. 

 

It was confirmed that the current contract for provision of services at Ingleside BCC 

was held by Bolton NHS Foundation Trust (Bolton FT) following a full procurement 

process in 2017. The Centre opened in April 2018 with a three-year contract to 31st 

March 2021. Due to issues relating to the COVID-19 pandemic, the contract was 

extended to 30th September 2021 to allow the future commissioning arrangements 

to be finalised. 

 

Work commenced with all existing maternity providers for Salford women through 

2020-2021 to explore the feasibility of a collaborative approach to enhance access to 

Ingleside BCC for all Salford women. There had also been a high-level evaluation of 

the current service at Ingleside, using innovation evaluation methodology. 

 

The proposed model was for Bolton FT to remain as the lead provider but working 

closely and collaboratively with other providers via ‘in-reach’ arrangements, 

principally Manchester FT, who were committed to delivering up to 100 births at the 

Ingleside site. The contract period would be 1st October 2021 – 31st March 2025 

(3.5years) with an option to extend for a further year. 

 

This model was only sustainable through additional resource: covering the 

overheads for Bolton FT (circa £300k p.a.) and a local tariff arrangement with 

Manchester to allow them to engage (£130k p.a.). 

 

RESOLVED: (1) THAT the lead provider commissioning arrangement, with Bolton 

FT working collaboratively with other providers to facilitate ‘in-reach’ births be 

approved. 

 

  (2) THAT the additional financial arrangements of £430k p.a. 

(potentially partially off-set by £100k p.a. from Bolton CCG) to allow the above 

commissioning model to work be approved. 

 

  (3) THAT the contract period of 1st October 2021 – 31st March 2025 

(3.5 years) with an option to extend for a further year be approved. 

 

  (4) THAT approval for an extension of the peppercorn rent 

arrangement of £40k p.a. until the end of the contract period be supported. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 4



 

8. SEND Activity Assurance. 
 

GC submitted a report which provided assurance in respect of SEND activity. 

 

It was confirmed that almost 17% of children and young people in Salford had an 

identified special educational need and/or disability (SEND).  

 

These ranged from the most severe to comparatively minor and are identified under 

four broad areas of need in the SEND Code of Practice: 

 

- Communication and interaction 

- Cognition and learning 

- Social emotional and mental health difficulties 

- Sensory and/or physical needs 

 

The Ofsted/CQC SEND Inspection highlighted many strengths across local systems 

(reported January 2020) and confirmed local self-evaluation areas for development.  

 

A combined SEND Action Plan comprised the key activity arising from - 

 

1. SEND Inspection 

2. SEND Strategy Priorities 

 a. Clear Pathways and better outcomes 

 b. Raising aspirations and pathways to independence 

 c. Sufficient range of quality provision 

 d. Clear communication and participation with SEND families 

3. Residual actions form JSNA 2018 

 

It was confirmed that the Action Plan was monitored by the SEND Partnership 

Board.  

 

RESOLVED: THAT the report be noted; and that update reports be presented at 

future meetings of this Committee. 

 

9. 0-25 Highlight reports from sub-groups 

 

The following items were submitted to the Committee for information - 

 

- 0-25 Highlight (Salford Thrive) 

- 0-25 Highlight (CAN ERG) 

- 0-25 Highlight (Therapies ERG) 

 

RESOLVED: THAT the update reports be noted. 

 

Page 5



10. Urgent Business - Part 1 

 

There were no items of urgent business. 

 
11.  Exclusion of the Public 

 

RESOLVED: THAT, under section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 

public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the 

grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as specified in 

paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act. 

 
12.  Urgent Business - Part 2 

 

There were no items of urgent business. 

 

13.  Dates of Future Meetings  

 

RESOLVED: THAT the next meeting of this Committee be held on Wednesday 8 

September 2021, at 9.30am. 

Page 6



 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

Children’s Commissioning Committee  

8th September 2021 
4. Finance Report  
 
Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please delete as appropriate) 
 

Report of: Chief Finance Officer 

Date of Paper: 1st September 2021 

In case of query, please contact: David Warhurst, Interim Chief Finance Officer 

Strategic Priorities:  
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research  

Adult Services 

Children’s and Maternity Services  

All Age Mental Health  
Primary Care  

Enabling Transformation  
Mayoral Priorities: 
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Tackling poverty and inequality  
Reducing Health Inequalities  

Skills and Education (A Learning City)  
Affordable Housing  

Transport and Digital Connectivity  
Tackling the Climate Change Emergency  

Vibrant Place and Spaces  
Creating an Economy for All  

Purpose of Paper:                                    

 
This paper provides the Children’s Commissioning Committee with an update relating to the 
YTD financial performance and forecast and associated risks to the financial plan of the 
Children’s Integrated Fund for 2021/22. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5

https://www.salford.gov.uk/cmpriorities


 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

Further information 

How will this benefit the health and wellbeing of 
Salford residents, or the CCG or City Council? 

Ensuring public funding is spent 
appropriately.  Achieving Value for Money, 
ensuring that funding is available to protect 
core services. 

How does this paper address health inequalities 
and promote inclusion? 

Financial and performance pressures 
associated with the children’s integrated fund 
services. Through management of committed 
developments and holding providers to 
account for performance. 

What risks may arise as a result of this paper 
and how will they be mitigated? 

 

Does this address any existing high risks facing 
the organisation and how does it reduce them? 

 

Are there any possible conflicts of interest 
associated with this paper? 

N/A 

Will any current services or roles be affected by 
issues within this paper and what are they? 

N/A 

Note: Where appropriate, please ensure detail is provided. 

 
Document Development 

Has there been Public Engagement? N/A 

Has there been Clinical Engagement? N/A 

Has the impact on Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally been considered? 

N/A 

Has there been an analysis of any impacts on 
equality? N/A 

Has legal advice been obtained? N/A 

Has this been to any groups or committees for 
engagement, comments, or approval?  

Elements have been reviewed by the Service and 
Finance Group 

Note: Where relevant, please provide detail and ensure that it is clear how and when particular stakeholders were 
involved in this work, that there is clarity of what the key message/decision was, and whether amendments were 
requested about any part of the work.

Page 8



 

  
  

  
  
  
  

  
   

Finance Report 

 

1.  Executive Summary 
   

 
This finance report provides the Children’s Commissioning Committee (CCC) with an in-
year update in relation to the financial performance of the children’s element of the 
Integrated Fund at July 2021. 
 
At July 2021, the children’s element of the Integrated Fund (IF) is forecast to be over spent 
by £4.8m. This reflects a worsening of the position from the opening planed deficit of £2.9m. 
 
At £4.8m, the fund is £1.9m more than the opening planned deficit of £2.9m. 
 
Section 2 - Highlights the main areas of over and under performance within the Fund 

against the approved IF plan for 2021/22.  It should be noted that the contingency of £5.7m 
has been realigned to the correct budget areas in order to show the true variance of areas 
within the children’s fund. 
 
Section 3 – Gives an update on the saving programme required in 2021/22 for the plan to 

be able to be achieved. 
 
Section 4 – Provides an update on the investment decisions that form part of the Children’s 

plan for 2021/22. 
 
CCC is asked to note the financial position along with the requirement to deliver on the 
savings programme for the Children’s Integrated Fund in 2021/22. 
 

 

2. 2021/22 Monitoring 
 
2.1  This latest finance report provides the Children’s Commissioning Committee (CCC) 

with the in-year position of the Children’s element of the Integrated Fund for the 
financial year (2021/22).  The appendices contain a lot of detail and are appended to 
give members a more thorough understanding of the scope of the Children’s Integrated 
Fund.  There are explanatory notes included in the appendices which hopefully explain 
the key messages contained within them. 

 
2.2 This finance report is based on July 2021 CCG and local authority information available 

at the time of writing the report.  A detailed analysis of the key children’s services within 
the Children’s Integrated Fund is shown in Appendices One and Two. The Service and 
Finance Group (SFG) has scrutinised the position and agreed to the key messages. 

 
2.3 The children’s services are forecasting to be overspent by £4.8m, this represents a 

worsening of £1.3m from the last reported position, as shown in Table 1 below. 
 
  

Page 9



 

  
  

  
  
  
  

  
   

Table 1: 2021/22 Financial Summary 

 
 
2.3.1 The contingency of £5.7m has been realigned to the correct budget areas in order to 

show the true variance of areas within the children’s fund.  
 
2.3.2 Looked After Children (LAC) - This is the main area of overspend and remains the 

biggest risk for the fund.  There has been an increase of eight outside placements in 
July which has created a material movement in the forecast and resulted in a £2.0m 
pressure within LAC. This is mainly due to homes being closed within Salford and new 
placements sought for the children which have resulted in outside placements. 

 
Some of these costs could relate to COVID due to the nature of the homes ’ closures 
and a review of the costs is being undertaken to understand if any can be covered by 
COVID funding. 

 

Page 10



 

  
  

  
  
  
  

  
   

2.3.3 There have been a number of vacancies that have been filled in particular within the 
localities area. This has resulted in £0.7m increase in costs but should mean services 
are now better staffed to deal with demand. 

 
 

3. Salford Savings Programme 
 
 
3.1 The Salford Savings Programme has been reinvigorated (formerly Best Value 

Programme) where the programme looks to provide a consistent overarching view of 
commissioning projects that are estimated to have a financial benefit whether cash 
releasing, cost avoidance or growth reduction. An overall monitoring schedule has 
been produced that aligns back to the locality integrated financial plan and an individual 
pro-forma created where each scheme has an overview and the current position 
reported. There are monthly meetings with commissioner leads across the locality for 
adults, children’s and primary care as well as corporate functions, which is a forum for 
discussion and debate to ensure we are consistent in the treatment of schemes and 
how some specific projects interact with each other. 

 
3.2 For children’s to achieve its planned deficit set at the start of the financial year of £2.9m, 

it assumes that the impact of BOND will continue to see a reduction in outside 
placements of £1.7m.  
 

3.3 Work continues to identify a specific savings programme for Children’s services to 
achieve cost avoidance schemes through 2021/22. These will be monitored through 
the year to ensure these cost avoidance schemes deliver.  Otherwise, this will put 
further pressure on the children’s position as the current contingency doesn’t cover the 
full historic cost of the services. 

 
 

4. Strategy and Investment 
 
4.1 An amount of £1.5m was set to be invested in 2021/22 within Children’s services on 

new or enhanced services across several areas, as shown in table 2 below. 

Page 11



 

  
  

  
  
  
  

  
   

 
Table 2: Children’s Investment Fund Summary 2021/22 

 
 
4.2 The contingency of £5.7m has been realigned with the correct budget areas and has 

therefore now been removed from the committed developments. This was set to cover 
historical overspends within the entire children’s services  outturn. The historical 
pressure is higher than the value set and cost avoidance schemes have been set-up 
to help achieve a reduction on the historical pressure to meet the planned value. 

 
4.3 There are several smaller initiatives that are now expected to slip against the planned 

investments. This slippage has been utilised to offset the overall pressure of the 
children’s fund in 2021/22. 

 

5. Risks 
 
5.1 The opening full year plan for the Integrated Fund was based on the assumption that 

H2 allocations would approximate those confirmed for H1.  However, the CCG is aware 
that the likely headline reduction in H2 allocations is approximately 3%, but these have 
yet to be confirmed. 

 
5.2 Winter pressures will likely result in additional acute expenditure. 
 
5.3 There is a risk that the current trend in increased number of outside placements will 

continue and be a further cost pressure, however there is a potential mitigation if some 
of these additional costs can be attributed to COVID. 

 
 

6. Recommendations 
 
5.1 The Children’s Commissioning Committee (CCC) is asked to: 
 

 Note the financial position for 2021/22 
 Note the savings programme for 2021/22 to deliver a balanced plan 
 Note the risks outlined in section 5 above. 

 
 
David Warhurst 
Interim Chief Financial Officer, Salford CCG  

Page 12



 

  
  

  
  
  
  

  
   

Appendix 1: Looked After Children (LAC) 
 

 
 
  

Page 13



 

  
  

  
  
  
  

  
   

Appendix 2: Localities 
 

 

 
 
 

Page 14



 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

Childrens Commissioning Committee  

8 September 2021 
AGENDA ITEM NO & PAPER NAME: Domestic Abuse Business Case 
 
Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please delete as appropriate) 
 

Report of: Charlotte Ramsden  

Date of Paper: 1st September 2021  

In case of query, please contact: Debbie Blackburn Deborah.blackburn@salford.gov.uk  

0161 6076678  

Strategic Priorities:  
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research   

Adult Services   
Children’s and Maternity Services   

All Age Mental Health   
Primary Care   

Enabling Transformation   
Mayoral Priorities: 
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Tackling poverty and inequality  
Reducing Health Inequalities   

Skills and Education (A Learning City)  
Affordable Housing  

Transport and Digital Connectivity  
Tackling the Climate Change Emergency  

Vibrant Place and Spaces  
Creating an Economy for All  

Purpose of Paper:                                    

This paper sets out a Business Case for continued and additional Investment in Domestic 
Abuse provision in Salford. The purpose of this Business Case is to describe the intent of 
funding, the groups of people supported around Domestic Abuse and identified issues, the 
service types, and associated service delivery requirements for our response to Domestic 
Abuse in Salford. 
 
Salford Local Authority and Salford Clinical Commissioning Group commission a broad range of 
statutory and non-statutory interventions for people who have support needs in relation to 
homelessness, domestic abuse, sexual violence, and substance misuse, and may also have 
support needs around social care, mental health, offending and risk of exploitation.  
These areas of vulnerability and need are acknowledged as having significant overlap. Current 
support services are delivered by a wide range of providers; whilst this brings the benefits of a 
wide range of knowledge and expertise it creates the potential for a lack of coordination across 
services and creates a risk for potential inequalities in provision. . Some service users will still 
need to access a range of different services – no one service will be able to meet needs of 
complex individuals. Sometimes this can lead to duplication, particularly if a person needs to 
work with a number of different services. Communication and oversight over the case is not 
always robust and currently there is no single, shared assessments or plans for service users 
so both services and the service user are not always clear around who is the lead professional. 
This has been identified through local learning reviews 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6

mailto:Deborah.blackburn@salford.gov.uk
https://www.salford.gov.uk/cmpriorities


 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

 
There is no clear connectivity across the systems, creating challenges when only one section of 
the system is reviewed/ revised including increased capacity requirements and demand 
operationally’ 
 
There is a requirement for investment across the system into high quality and timely  risk and 
needs assessment, information, counselling, and support to people affected by domestic and 
family violence as well as investing in service delivery to achieve safer communities through 
prevention and early intervention and service system capacity building 

Further information 

How will this benefit the health and wellbeing of 
Salford residents, or the CCG or City Council? 

Salford residents will benefit significantly from 
additional investment in Domestic Abuse 
services currently we have a significant need 
in the City 
 
 

How does this paper address health inequalities 
and promote inclusion? 

 

What risks may arise as a result of this paper 
and how will they be mitigated? 

There is a risk that if additional investment is 
not secured 

Does this address any existing high risks facing 
the organisation and how does it reduce them? 

Under investment in Domestic Abuse across 
the City creates risks for residents 

Are there any possible conflicts of interest 
associated with this paper? 

None identified 

Will any current services or roles be affected by 
issues within this paper and what are they? 

IRIS and current Domestic Abuse Provision 

Note: Where appropriate, please ensure detail is provided. 

Document Development 

Page 16



 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

Has there been Public Engagement? There has been public engagement on the 
Domestic Abuse Commissioning strategy  

Has there been Clinical Engagement? 
There has been wide clinical and professional 

engagement on the Domestic Abuse 
Commissioning strategy 

Has the impact on Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally been considered? 

 

Has there been an analysis of any impacts on 
equality? 

An equality impact assessment will be undertaken 
as part of the Procurement process if the 
additional funding is agreed, the proposal  

Has legal advice been obtained? Yes  

Has this been to any groups or committees for 
engagement, comments, or approval?  

The paper has been to Community Safety 
Partnership, TDAB, CMT, Lead Member  

Note: Where relevant, please provide detail and ensure that it is clear how and when particular stakeholders were 
involved in this work, that there is clarity of what the key message/decision was, and whether amendments were 
requested about any part of the work.

Page 17



 

4 
 

Domestic Abuse Business Case  
 

1.  Executive Summary 

   
This business case outlines the proposal for investment for Domestic Abuse provision  
 

1.1. The purpose of this Business Case is to describe the intent of funding, the groups 
of people supported around Domestic Abuse and identified issues, the service 
types, and associated service delivery requirements for our response to Domestic 
Abuse in Salford. 

  
1.2. Salford Local Authority and Salford Clinical Commissioning Group commission a 

broad range of statutory and non-statutory interventions for people who have 
support needs in relation to homelessness, domestic abuse, sexual violence, and 
substance misuse, and may also have support needs around social care, mental 
health, offending and risk of exploitation.  

 
1.3. These areas of vulnerability and need are acknowledged as having significant 

overlap. Current support services are delivered by a wide range of providers; whilst 
this brings the benefits of a wide range of knowledge and expertise it creates the 
potential for a lack of coordination across services and creates a risk for potential 
inequalities in provision. Some service users will still need to access a range of 
different services – no one service will be able to meet needs of complex 
individuals. Sometimes this can lead to duplication, particularly if a person needs to 
work with a number of different services. Communication and oversight over the 
case is not always robust and currently there is no single, shared assessments or 
plans for service users so both services and the service user are not always clear 
around who is the lead professional. This has been identified through local learning 
reviews 

 
1.4. There is no clear connectivity across the systems, creating challenges when only 

one section of the system is reviewed/ revised including increased capacity 
requirements and demand operationally’ 

 
1.5. There is a requirement for investment into high quality and timely risk and needs 

assessment, information, counselling, and support to people affected by domestic 
and family violence as well as investing in service delivery to achieve safer 
communities through prevention and early intervention and service system 
capacity building. 

 
1.6. The Business Case sets out a requirement to provide a contemporary, consistent, 

and sustainable approach for service delivery from investment through to 
outcomes that delivers on a strong commitment of working towards eliminating 
Domestic Abuse in our community. 

 
1.7. In line with this approach, investment in the Domestic and Family Violence 

infrastructure will contribute to the following outcomes: 
 

 Earlier identification of domestic abuse and therefore prevention of escalation to 
crisis intervention  

Page 18



 

5 
 

 Increased safety from domestic and family violence and improved wellbeing 

 Increased perpetrator responsibility for abusive behaviour 

 Increased public awareness about domestic and family violence including available 
support services. 

 Reduced A&E attendances  

 Reduced Primary Care interventions and a more responsive system to support 
identification   

 Reduced Mental health needs for children and adults.  

 Increased educational, training and employment outcomes in the city. 

 Reduced pressure on the workforce 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

2.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
         
 
 

Business Case  
 

 
Investment Case for Domestic Abuse in Salford  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



 

6 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Version Control Log 
 

DATE SECTIONS NAME COMMENT 

14/03/21 Version 1 Debbie 
Blackburn  

Initial Draft  

21/04/21 Version 2  Debbie 
Blackburn 

Comments from Roselyn Baker  

15/04/21 Version 3 Debbie 
Blackburn 

Comments from Emma Ford  

27/04/21 Version 4 Debbie 
Blackburn 

Comments from Liz Walton  

28/04/21 Version 5 Debbie 
Blackburn 

Comments from Claire Baddley  

29/04/21  Version 6 Debbie 
Blackburn 

Comments from Liz Walton, Claire Baddley 
and Nicki Dugdale  

29/04/21 Version 7 Debbie 
Blackburn  

Agreed with amends via Domestic Abuse 
Commissioning Strategy Group 

05/05/21 Version 8 Debbie 
Blackburn 

Comments from DCI Gareth Jenkins  

20/07/21 Version 9 Debbie 
Blackburn 

Updated financial requirement  

06/08/21 Version 10  Debbie 
Blackburn/Chris 
Mee/Claire 
Baddley  

Updated Financial information and staffing  

 
 

Page 20



 

7 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table of Contents   

 
 

1 Executive Summary  

 
2 Context   

 
3 Local Data  

 
4 Current Provision  

 
5 What Works  

 
6 Current Investment  

 

Page 21



 

8 
 

7 Proposed Investment  
 

8 Role of Other Services  
 

9 Proposed Provision  
 

10 Conclusion and Recommendations 
 

11 Social value  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1. Executive Summary 

 

This business case outlines the proposal for investment for Domestic Abuse provision  
 
1.8. The purpose of this Business Case is to describe the intent of funding, the groups of 

people supported around Domestic Abuse and identified issues, the service types, and 
associated service delivery requirements for our response to Domestic Abuse in Salford. 
  

1.9. Salford Local Authority and Salford Clinical Commissioning Group commission a broad 
range of statutory and non-statutory interventions for people who have support needs in 
relation to homelessness, domestic abuse, sexual violence, and substance misuse, and 
may also have support needs around social care, mental health, offending and risk of 
exploitation.  

 
1.10. These areas of vulnerability and need are acknowledged as having significant 

overlap. Current support services are delivered by a wide range of providers; whilst this 
brings the benefits of a wide range of knowledge and expertise it creates the potential for 
a lack of coordination across services and creates a risk for potential inequalities in 
provision. Some service users will still need to access a range of different services – no 
one service will be able to meet needs of complex individuals. Sometimes this can lead 
to duplication, particularly if a person needs to work with a number of different services. 
Communication and oversight over the case is not always robust and currently there is 
no single, shared assessments or plans for service users so both services and the 
service user are not always clear around who is the lead professional. This has been 
identified through local learning reviews 

 

Page 22



 

9 
 

1.11. There is no clear connectivity across the systems, creating challenges when only 
one section of the system is reviewed/ revised including increased capacity requirements 
and demand operationally’ 

 
1.12. There is a requirement for investment into high quality and timely risk and 

needs assessment, information, counselling, and support to people affected by domestic 
and family violence as well as investing in service delivery to achieve safer communities 
through prevention and early intervention and service system capacity building. 

 
1.13. The Business Case sets out a requirement to provide a contemporary, consistent, 

and sustainable approach for service delivery from investment through to outcomes that 
delivers on a strong commitment of working towards eliminating Domestic Abuse in our 
community. 

 
1.14. In line with this approach, investment in the Domestic and Family Violence 

infrastructure will contribute to the following outcomes: 
 

 Earlier identification of domestic abuse and therefore prevention of escalation to 
crisis intervention  

 Increased safety from domestic and family violence and improved wellbeing 
 Increased perpetrator responsibility for abusive behaviour 

 Increased public awareness about domestic and family violence including 
available support services. 

 Reduced A&E attendances  

 Reduced Primary Care interventions and a more responsive system to support 
identification   

 Reduced Mental health needs for children and adults.  
 Increased educational, training and employment outcomes in the city. 

 Reduced pressure on the workforce 
 
 

2 Context  
 

2.1 Domestic Abuse is described as  
 

“Any incident or pattern of incidents of controlling, coercive, threatening behaviour, 
violence or abuse between those aged 16 or over who are, or have been, intimate 
partners or family members regardless of gender or sexual orientation. The abuse can 
encompass but is not limited to psychological, physical, sexual, economic, and 
emotional forms of abuse.i 
 
Controlling behaviour is a range of acts designed to make a person subordinate and/or 
dependent by isolating them from sources of support, exploiting their resources and 
capacities for personal gain, depriving them of the means needed for independence, 
resistance and escape and regulating their everyday behaviour.  
 
Coercive behaviour is an act or a pattern of acts of assault, threats, humiliation and 
intimidation or other abuse that is used to harm, punish, or frighten a person.” Domestic 
violence refers to acts of violence or abuse between people who have, or have had, an 
intimate relationship. The central element of domestic violence is an ongoing pattern 

Page 23



 

10 
 

of behaviour aimed at controlling a partner through fear which is violent and 
threatening. In most cases, the violent behaviour is part of a range of tactics to exercise 
power and control over the other person and their children and can be classified both 
criminal and non-criminal behaviours. 

  

2.2 The new Domestic Abuse Bill defines that domestic abuse is behaviour by a person, 
towards another if: - 
 

 Both persons are each aged 16 or over and are personally connected, and 

 The behaviour is abusive  
 

2.3 Behaviour is abusive if it consists of any of the following: - 
  

 physical or sexual abuse; 

 violent or threatening behaviour; 

 controlling or coercive behaviour; 

 economic abuse (see notes below) 

 psychological, emotional or other abuse. 

 Economic abuse means any behaviour that has a substantial adverse effect on the 
victims ability to acquire, use or maintain money or other property, or obtain goods 
or services. 
 

2.4 The new domestic abuse bill also introduces for the purposes of this act, that perpetrators 
who direct their conduct towards another person, for example the child of a victim, would 
be considered to be abusive behaviour towards the victim. 
 

2.5 Personally connected The new definition seeks to ensure that opportunities for identifying 
domestic abuse is not limited and includes where people: - 

 

 are, or have been, married to each other; 

 are, or have been, civil partners of each other; 

 have agreed to marry one another (whether or not the agreement has been 
terminated); 

 have entered into a civil partnership agreement (whether or not the agreement has 
been terminated); 

 are, or have been, in an intimate personal relationship with each other; 

 have a child in relation to whom they each have a parental relationship  

 are relatives. 
 

2.6 The definition treats people aged 16 or over as adults. DA and HBA incidents involving 16 
and 17 year olds will be recorded on police systems using a DAB event. These cases are 
also child protection matters, and relevant procedures should be followed under Section 17 
and 47 of the Children’s Act (Child in Need or Child at Risk of Significant Harm). Incidents 
involving victims of forced marriage (FM), Honour-Based Abuse (HBA) or Female Genital 
Mutilation (FGM), who are under 18, will also be considered a child protection matter. 
 

2.7 For further information on this subject, please refer to the College of Policing, Authorised 
Professional Practice (APP) on Domestic Abuse. 

Page 24

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.app.college.police.uk%2Fapp-content%2Fmajor-investigation-and-public-protection%2Fdomestic-abuse%2F&data=04%7C01%7Cdeborah.blackburn%40salford.gov.uk%7Cadf07a77947a49eb847708d90fb09d78%7C68c00060d80e40a5b83f3b8a5bc570b5%7C0%7C0%7C637558073524406252%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=xEpokV3LKfmmVsvLKAV45F5TUfzNssiqVfh6uoX346I%3D&reserved=0


 

11 
 

 

2.8 Whilst anyone can experience Domestic Abuse, in the majority of cases, the abuse is 
perpetrated by men against women and is therefore gendered in nature. 

 

2.9 Domestic and family violence services are required to work as part of a broader service 
system that includes police, health,  courts, child and adult protection and non-government 
organisations to deliver a timely coordinated and client focussed response to people 
affected by domestic and family violence. Services are delivered in this context to enhance 
responses to this client group and improve the safety and wellbeing of victims and their 
children, particularly those in high-risk situations.  
 

2.10 Prioritising victim safety and a focus on preventative action is the core priority of services 
funded under this Business Case.  
 

2.11 SafeLives Insights dataset reveals that two in five children (41%) in families where there 
is domestic abuse have been living with that abuse since they were born. For some 
children, this exposure to abuse does not only start early, but persists into later childhood. 
Of all the children in the dataset who had been living with abuse for their whole lives, over 
a third (37%) were more than five years old. 

 

2.12 Victims live with domestic abuse for, on average, 3 years before accessing support. Older 
people, and those who remain living with the abusive partner take longer, on average 6 
years. A referral to a domestic abuse service through the police or the health service can 
reduce this time.ii  
 

2.13 We do know that particular groups are more of risk of domestic abuse: 
 

 Women between the ages of 16 and 45 are more likely than men or older women 
to be in abusive relationships. 

 Vulnerability to domestic abuse is heightened by other pre-existing vulnerabilities, 
such as having a disability, or using substances or mental health issues. 

 Vulnerability to domestic abuse is heightened if an adult has experienced domestic 
abuse within their childhood. 

 Older people who are dependent on care from a partner or relative can be 
particularly vulnerable to domestic abuse due to their inability to protect 
themselves. 

 

3 Local Data 
 

3.1 Salford unfortunately has high volumes of Domestic Abuse and sadly this often appears 
to be passed down the generations, in children witnessing and suffering and learning 
negative behaviours in relation to this abuse. In Salford, since April 2019, 37% of all 
cases heard at MARAC have been repeat cases.  
 

3.2 Domestic abuse incidents notified to all agencies (Police, SIDASS, MARAC, the Bridge) 
have increased in Salford since 2016. 
 
 

3.3 IDAA service demand April 2021 update – 100 cases per IDAA is industry standard 

Page 25

https://safelives.org.uk/latest-insights-national-datasets


 

12 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.4 Key facts for Salford  
 

 To be at the Industry average (100 cases) we would need to have 14.36 IDAA’s 
employed and increases of nearly 9 Whole time equivalents.  
 

 To be at the GM average, the system would require 7 IDAA’s, 1.5 more WTE’s 
more.  

 
3.4 GMP Activity Data   

 
The stats for Salford averaging 509 DA incident a month over the last year, 194 of these 
incidents have children present, 391 DA crimes being recorded a month, with an increase in the 
number of incidents that resulted in a crime being recorded, March 2020 44% to 73% as an 
average over the last 5 months. This needs to take into account that GMP are more accurately 
recording DA crimes due to new processes. 
 
3.5 IRIS referrals  
 

The IRIS project is a national evidenced based specialist programme offering domestic abuse 
training, support and a referral pathway, specifically for General Practices. It is a partnership 
between health and the specialist domestic abuse sector, clinically led by health professionals, 

Page 26



 

13 
 

and has been positively evaluated from randomised controlled trials.  It is designed to improve 
the Primary Care response to domestic abuse.  
 
Since its implementation in Salford in 2016 the project has continued to grow and has been 
embedded across all General Practices in Salford. This has resulted in in 852 referrals at the end 
of 2021 for specialist domestic abuse support for patients who may previously have never made 
a disclosure about domestic abuse. General Practice referrals have increased significantly since 
the introduction of the IRIS Project  

 

3.6 The following information represents mapping work undertaken on behalf of the GM 
Deputy Mayor around GM victim support services work undertaken by Kevin Vanderpool 
on behalf of Victim Support services  

 

5 18
9

22 30 25 35 35 35
58 61

79
53 51

73 71
41 43 50 56

5

23
32

54 84
109

144

179
214

272

333

412

465

516

589

662

703

746

796

852

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Total by Quarter Cumulative Total

Page 27



 

14 
 

 

 
  
  

 
                        

Page 28



 

15 
 

 
 
 

3.7 Additional provision is available but not captured in this return which is provided by Housing 
Services in Salford and includes Housing and Support to families or individuals.  
 

3.8 SafeLives provides estimates of the number of high-risk cases based on population. In 
Salford, this data estimates that there should be 360 referrals to MARAC. The actual 
number in Salford was twice as high at over 600 in 2018. This has important implications 
for the capacity of services to respond to high-risk cases. 

  

3.9 Data collected by public agencies in Salford can only tell us about cases of domestic abuse 
that come to the attention of services. The demographic information can be used to 
understand the population profile of domestic abuse victims, but with the caveat that 
policies procedures and culture may mean that some groups are more likely to be identified 
than others. 

 

3.10 Domestic abuse victims known to all services are predominantly white British (more than 
75% of all victims with known ethnicities across services). 

 

3.11 The next largest category is ‘ethnicity unknown. 
 

3.12 Victims from “Any Other White Background” make up 5% of SIDASS clients but a 
decreasing percentage of victims of a domestic abuse crime as reported by the police (from 
4% to 2% between 2016/17 and 2018/19). The overall number of domestic abuse crimes 
where victims identified in this way is increasing, just not as quickly as the overall number 
of domestic abuse crimes. 

 

4 Current Provision 
 

4.1 Domestic abuse can be identified by a range of frontline agencies. Professionals ’ 
understanding of what constitutes abuse, how to assess risk and how to respond shapes 
the experiences of victims from the moment that abuse is identified.  

Page 29



 

16 
 

 
4.2 The Domestic Abuse, Stalking and Honour-Based Violence Risk Assessment (known as 

the DASH form) is used across agencies when talking to victims or suspected victims of 
abuse. A score of 14 or more categorises a victim or incident as high risk. High risk DA 
can also be identified through the number of repeat incidents in a year and on 
professional judgement of the worker 
 

4.3 The form also prompts professionals to record children in the household and consider a 
safeguarding notification.  

 
4.4 The DASH assessment also identifies adults in household who have vulnerabilities and 

seeks referrals for safeguarding  
 

 
 

4.5 Since this review took place as part of the Needs Assessment undertaken in 2019, and as 
a result of the recommendations Perpetrator Provision and Childrens Mental Health 
provision has been commissioned and will continue as part of the proposed re procurement 
exercise.  

Page 30



 

17 
 

 
4.6 In Housing dispersed accommodation is also provided specifically for people experiencing 

Domestic Abuse and this was not captured at the time.  
 

4.7 In screening the IRIS notifications are to the CCG Safeguarding team.  
 

4.8 The Independent Domestic Abuse Advocacy Support service is currently supporting 290 
victims of DA at a high-risk level. This is an average case load of 60 per IDAA, against an 
industry standard of 25 cases per IDAA (SafeLives data). The service prioritises high risk 
(MARAC) cases with a 24-hour contact and assessment policy. IDAAs are proactive in 
implementing safety plans with victims of domestic abuse, which include practical steps to 
protect victims and their children, as well as longer-term solutions. 

 
4.9 Temporary funding has been made available to support Mental Health IDAA provision 

which provides much needed mental health support to victims.  
   
5 What Works 

 

5.1 Building on the nationally recognised high-risk response, SafeLives has worked closely 

with survivors and five grass roots domestic abuse specialist services to co-create a 

whole family model that addresses five key gaps that exist in the UK’s response to 

domestic abuse for people who are Safelives also highlights that disabled women and 

those with a learning disability are twice as likely to suffer from assault/ rape.  

 at medium risk of harm. 

 remaining in their relationships. 

 have complex needs. 

 rebuilding and recovering from abuse; and for 

 children and young people. 

 Disabled women  

 People with Learning Disability/Autism 
 

5.2 We believe these gaps have the biggest impact on the ability of services to meet the 

needs of people experiencing domestic abuse. By addressing them, we can support 

individuals and whole families in their journey to long term safety and wellbeing. 

5.3 We believe that time and therefore capacity is required to allow relational practice to 

flourish, offering creative and flexible approaches to engaging victims and those that harm 

in a way that create improved outcomes. Inclusive of home visits and visits are agreed 

venues to work alongside other and not give up on achieving working and trusted 

relationships.  

5.4 Evidence from SafeLives suggests a quarter of high-harm perpetrators are repeat 

offenders, and some have at least six different victims, yet there is still very little focus on 

stopping those perpetrators from reoffending – fewer than 1% receive a specialist 

intervention.iii 

Page 31



 

18 
 

5.5 Emerging evidence suggests that high-risk perpetrators of domestic abuse are often 

prolific offenders across the board with an average of 30 police incidents in the previous 

four years, 64% of which are for offending which is not domestic abuse.iv  

5.6 The Drive project, which works with high-risk perpetrators, has shown perpetrators on the 

programme reduced their use of high-risk physical abuse by 82%, sexual abuse by 88%, 

harassment and stalking behaviours by 75%, and jealous and controlling behaviours by 

73%.v  A study by the University of Northumbria found one intervention with perpetrators 

had a 65% reduction in domestic abuse related offending and a social return on 

investment of £14 for every £1 spent.v i 

5.7 Estimated save to the future system; £2,622,000 if all children supported did not go on to 

become a victim or perpetrator of abuse. 

5.8 However, if even only 25% of the children supported didn’t go on to become a victim or 

perpetrator of domestic abuse the long term saving would be £522,000 

5.9 If Harbour was able to prevent only 13 children per year in Salford from becoming victims 

or perpetrators in the future the service would have paid for itself. 

6 Current Provision  

Page 32



 

19 
 

Provider  Service  WTE  Contract Length  

SIDASS via 
Womens Aid 

Commissioned IDAA services 
 

Core service is 3.5 WTE IDAAs 
 
With emergency funding obtained from 
MoJ and CSP the service is currently 
employing an additional 2 WTE IDAAs 
on a year contract until October 

March 2018-March 
2021 
 
Extended now to 
31st December 
2021 to align with 
the commissioning 
strategy 

SIDASS via 
Salford Womens 
Aid 

The IRIS project which is commissioned via the 
CCG to support Primary Care with IDAA Provision 

2 WTE IDAAs  

Collaboration 
between Talk 
Listen Change 
and Trafford Da 
service 

The ‘Harbour’ (Salford’s DA provision for children) 
offers support to any young person aged 5-18 who 
has witness or been a direct victim/ survivor of 
domestic abuse. 

YPAA 37.5hrs 
 
YPAA sexual health - 21hrs 
 
Group Facilitator/ school liaison worker - 
30hrs 
  
Trauma informed workers- 37.5  
 
Children & Family Worker 18 hrs.  
 
Young person who harms worker 21 
hours 
 
Counsellor- 21 hours (600 hours of 
counselling) 
 
Equivalent to 5.1 workers full time 
Plus 1 part time manager.  
 
Inclusive in cost is all over heads 
including clinical supervision for staff 
and training package  
 
DART- 5K 
TRAP 5K 
Zoe Lodrick training 1K 

March 2020 to 
March 2022 

Talk Listen 
Change  

Perpetrator Programme  2 bridge to change workers  
1 strive to change worker  
16 hours management oversight. 

March 2019-March 
2022 

Salford 
Foundation  

Women on the edge of Justice   2021-2024 

Mental health 
IDAA  

Provides Mental health support via an IAPT 
worker to SIDASS.  

1 WTE IDAA  Ends October 2021  

Salford Womens 
Aid  

Support in Covid for refuge provision around 
children. 

  

Salford Womens 
Aid and SCC   

Refuge provision  
Currently women placed in refuges in Salford are 
able to claim Housing benefit the LA is required to 
‘top’up funding which costs the LA the defined 
amount if housing provision can be agreed as part 
of the lead provider model linked to existing 
provision in Salford this cost could be reduced  
The rent charged is £283.49 per week 
 
Included in this are £ 21.11 ineligible charges 
(heating, laundry, water etc) which is payable by 
the tenant. 
 

 Recurrent  

Page 33



 

20 
 

7. Proposed Investment  

7.1 To enable a full response to Domestic Abuse in Salford additional funding of £333k from 

April 2022 would be required to ensure we have a comprehensive response to tackling 

and preventing future need.  

7.2 Whilst this business case sets out minimum requirements, a longer-term proposal about 

additional investment into Domestic Abuse as an invest to save proposal is required, we 

know we continue to see the impact of DA in Salford in a wide range of services and 

ultimately DA is damaging lives in Salford. We recognise there are finite resources 

attached to this work, but additional capacity or resource would be sought, if possible, to 

address some of the causal or early identification areas these would include.  

7.3 Investment in relationship training in schools, currently PSHE is a statutory requirement, 

but the content varies significantly across Salford, investment in a team to support the 

delivery taking the form of a school nurse and a Youth Service Worker will  provide 

dedicated support to schools to work around healthy social and sexual relationships, this 

will build resilience in the system and create consistency. Funding for this work is being 

sought from the Public Health Grant. Work is also underway to develop support to young 

people who may engage in Risky Behaviours, this will target specific support to a 

vulnerable cohort.  

7.4 Attachment to a midwifery unit gives an Independent Domestic Abuse Advisor (IDAA) the 

vital opportunity to detect domestic abuse victims when they are perhaps at their most 

vulnerable, not to mention the risk to their unborn child. The IDAA can help to train 

midwives in issues such as: why would being pregnant not be a protective factor to mum, 

or why do victims stay even when there might be harm to their baby? Failure of 

professionals to ask about domestic abuse can often lead the victim to experience greater 

HB award is £262.38 per week 
 
The Landlords are not a registered housing 
provider so the authority will not receive 100% 
subsidy but the property is exempt from the LHA 
rates but are referred to the rent officer. 
The rent officer has determined a rent of £92.00 
per week and the authority receive 100% subsidy 
on this amount. 
This would mean there is a £170.38 per week 
shortfall (£8859.76 per annum) per tenant 
however if the claimant is deemed as vulnerable 
(has to fit certain criteria) we will be able to claim 
an additional 60% subsidy of the difference 
between the Rent Officer Decision and the Eligible 
Rent ie 60% of £170.38 = £102.23 leaving a 
shortfall of £68.15 per week (£3,543.80 per annum 
per tenant)  
 

End the Fear 
(GM 

 N/A  

GM LGBT IDAA  N/A  
Total Recurrent     

Page 34



 

21 
 

feelings of helplessness and entrapment. The IDAA can help make domestic abuse a 

subject that all professionals feel comfortable talking about. 

7.5 IDAAs can also help to train midwives in specialist subjects. For example, honour-based 

violence, Female Genital Mutilation and forced marriage. All issues which midwives might 

come across and which are prevalent in the UK today. 

7.6 Hospital based IDAAs Safe Lives research revealed that hospital IDAAs were more likely 

to reach  groups of complex victims compared to local services. This included victims who 

disclosed high levels of complex or multiple needs related to mental health, drugs, and 

alcohol, aged 55 or over, victims who do not have children living with them, victims from 

high income households and victims who remain in a relationship with their abuser.  

7.7 Research suggests that domestic abuse victims feel safest disclosing to health 

practitioners – and four out of five victims never tell the police. 

7.8 Additional investment is required in IDVA/IDAA provision to enable smaller caseloads and 

more ability to step cases down and provide support and training for other services, 

outreach workers who can support the work of the specialist services and create a link to 

other services. Currently funding for is from non-recurrent grants  

7.9 A Mental Health practitioner linked to adult mental health services who can support the 

management of referrals and provide specialist support to services is required to provide 

connectivity to mental health services for both victim and perpetrator provision.  

7.10 Current staffing and proposed staffing are set out below  

Current Provision          
 

Service   

WTE 
Provision 

(recurrent 

unless 
otherwise 

noted) 

Service/staff costs 

(000s) 
Notes  

Summary (current)          

SIDASS via Women's 
Aid - Core IDAA 

Independent 

Domestic Abuse 
Advocates 

3.5 £160    

  
Independent 

Domestic Abuse 
Advocates 

2 (non-rec)   

Temporary 

funding - not 
included in 
calculation. 

 

SIDASS via Women's 
Aid - IRIS 

Independent 
Domestic Abuse 

Advocates 

2 £110    

Page 35

https://safelives.org.uk/sites/default/files/resources/Cry%20for%20Health%20full%20report.pdf


 

22 
 

The Harbour (TDA / 

TLC) 

Young People’s 

Violence Advisor 
2.55 

£174   

 

Trauma Informed 

Worker 
1  

Children and Family 

Worker 
0.5  

Support Harm 0.55  

Councillor 0.6  

Mental Health 

Domestic Abuse 
Practitioner 

Independent 

Domestic Abuse 
Advocates 

1 (non-rec)   

Temporary 
funding - not 

included in 
calculation. 

 

Perpetrator 
Programme 

Bridge Change 
Workers 

2 

£114   

 

Strive workers 1  

Management 
oversight 

0.4  

Total   14.1 £558 Recurrent  

    3   Non-recurrent  

Proposed Provision        
  

 

Service Additional staff 

Additional 
WTE 

Provision 

proposed  

Unit cost (000s) Total cost (000s) Notes 

Independent 

Domestic Abuse 
Advocates 

Complex case IDAA 1 £30 £30 

IDAA roles have 

been calculated 
at £30K - this is 

to cover a 

range of junior 
and senior roles 
and account for 

upward 

movement in 
grades. 

IDAA outreach 
workers 

2 £30 £60 

IDAA coordination 
workers 

2 £30 £60 

BAME IDAA 1 £30 £30 

Senior lead IDAA 

(Case load smaller) 
1 £30 £30 

Trauma Informed 

worker IDAA 
1 £30 £30 

Service manager 
(IDAA) 

1 £30 £30 

DA Administration Programme Admin 2 £30 £60   

IRIS 
Administrative 

costs 
1 £30 £30 

No new IRIS 
IDAAs are 
proposed. 

Page 36



 

23 
 

Mental Health 
Domestic Abuse 

Practitioner (Adult 
Mental Health 

Services 

professional) 

  1 £58 £58   

Childrens Provision  

No specific 

additional staff 
proposed 

Additional 
capacity 

required for 
current 

provision 

£20 £20   
 

 

 

 

Perpetrator 

Programme 

No additional staff 

proposed 

No additional 

staff 
proposed 

£0 £0   

 

 

 

Total   13   £438    

*Note: Historic funding for the IDVA service provided management overheads for the 
provision of victim support services. This has now been incorporated into the proposed model 
so original provision is being reduced accordingly as below. 

  

Service 
Current & Future 

WTE Provision 

(recurrent only) 

Costs 22/23 
onwards 

(000s) 

Notes 

 

  

Existing IDAA service 3.5 £105 
Previously this was 

£160, but has now 
been changed as per 

note above*  

  

New IDAAs 9 £270 
   

  

Existing IRIS IDAA 
service 

2 £60 
Previously this was 
£110, but has now 

been changed as per 
note above*  

  

Total IDAAs 14.5 £435 

This would now 
bring cases per IDAA 

in Salford to the 
industry standard - 
from 262 cases per 

IDAA to 99 cases per 
IDAA.  

  

New IRIS 
administrative 

support 
1 £30 

   

  

Page 37



 

24 
 

New Domestic Abuse 
administrative 

support 

2 £60 
   

  

Total Victim's 
Provision 

17.5 £525    
  

Mental Health 
Domestic Abuse 

Practitioner 
1 £58 

   

  

Total Children's 

Provision  
5.2 £194    

  

Total Perpetrator 
Programme 

3.4 £114 
   

  

Overall Total 27.1 £891 

 £891 would be 
the required 

recurrent funding 
to deliver these 
services 22/23 
onwards and 

there would be 
27.1 WTE staff in 

place.  

  

 

8. Additional Funding Requirement 

Service 
20/21 Non 

Rec 

 

21/22 
Rec 

WTE 

 
Adjusted 

Rec 

Costs* 

New  Total WTE  
22/23 

Onwards 

Expenditure    
  

    

Core IDAA £0  £160 3.5 £105 £330 £435 14.5 £435 

IRIS £0  £110 2 £60 £30 £90 3 £90 

Children’s Provision  £0  £174 5.2 £174 £20 £194 5.2 £194 

Mental Health 
Domestic Abuse 
Practitioner (AMHS 
professional sits in 
Adult mental health) 

£0 

 

£0  

 

£58 £58 1 £58 

Perpetrator 
Programme 

£0 
 

£114 3.4 
£114 

£0 £114 3.4 £114 

Salford Foundation - 
Women on Edge of 
Justice 

£300 
 

  
 

    

Covid Refuge 
Provision 

£50 
 

  
 

    

Total Cost £350  £558 14.1 £453 £438 £891 27.1 £891 

Funding    
  

    

Page 38



 

25 
 

Integrated Fund 
Budget 

£0 
 

-£288 
  

£0 -£288  -£288 

SCC - Other Existing 
Budgets  

£0 
 

-£160 
  

£0 -£160  -£160 

CCG - Other Existing 
Budgets 

-£50 
 

-£110 
  

£0 -£110  -£110 

Other External 
Resources 

-£300 
 

£0 
  

£0 £0  £0 

Total Funding -£350  -£558   £0 -£558  -558 

Funding Deficit £0  £0   £438 £333  £333 

Proposed Funding    
  

    

Salford CC £0  £0   -£175 -£175  -£175 

Salford CCG  £0  £0   -£134 -£134  -£134 

GMP - committed 
contribution 

£0 
 

£0 
  

-£24 -£24  -£24 

Additional Funding £0  £0   -£333 -£333  -£333 

Remaining Deficit £0  £0   £0 £0  £0 
* Note: Historic funding for the IDVA service provided management overheads for the provision of victim support 

services. This has now been incorporated into the proposed model so original provision is being reduced accord ingly. 

Leftover recurrent funding will be used to contribute towards new provision – which reduces the new recurring ask from 

£374 to £333 and the overall recurring ask from £932 to 891. 

8.1 The additional funding ask has been revised to enable a realistic financial envelope and 

contributions. 

8.2 Funding is currently contributed from a number of sources including Local Authority Place 

and People Directorates £160k p.a, Clinical Commissioning group £110k recurrent and 

£50k non recurrent in 2020, BOND programme (shared between CCG and LA) £287.5k. 

8.3 The proposal is that an agreed approach is taken to contributions to this additional 

funding across Police, Local Authority and CCG to meet the funding gap. 

8.4 Salford Council are committing at risk £175k as an invest to save proposal based on 

Council grants  

8.5 GMP have committed £23,516  

8.6 CCG are requested to commit £134k from April 2022 to support the additional delivery   

8.7 The funding contribution could be reduced over a number of years as we place an 

expectation on the Lead Provider to income generate from Grant funding not available to 

statutory agencies.  

9. Impact Measures to enable an invest to save proposition 

9.1 Evidence of impact of the invest to save process will be required and impact monitoring of 

the contract will include the cost avoidance elements and will be far reaching the 

Page 39



 

26 
 

estimated cost for a single victim of domestic abuse is £34,015. While this represents an 

average, there are a range of different types of violent and sexual offences that victims of 

domestic abuse can experience. Most extreme is the cost of domestic homicide, which 

has an estimated unit cost of £2.2 million arising from the cost of harms, health services 

and lost output. A draft list of outcome measures will be further developed with he 

provider to demonstrate cost avoidance and impact  

9.2 The additional investment will mean that caseload numbers will drop from 262 cases per 

IDAA to 99 per IDAA  

9.3 Proposed Outcomes measures below will be developed further in negotiation with the 

Lead Provider  

Earlier identification of domestic abuse and therefore prevention of escalation to crisis 
intervention 

 Increasing GP referrals - dropped through lockdown 

 Reduction in the number of cases being discussed by GMP 

 Specialist IDVA based in Salford Royal hospital supporting in an increase in early risk 
assessment of cases through A&E 

 Increase in earlier assessment of risk through increase phone line support hours and 
IDVA availability  

 Operation Encompass (earlier identification) supported via Young people’s DA service 
with early intervention support providing an increase in training, and tool kit resources for 
pastoral staff 

 Increase in training provided by the lead provider and sub providers on identifying signs of 
abuse for partnership agencies. 

 Increase in school group educational programmes, helping young people to identify the 
signs of domestic abuse and healthy and unhealthy relationships earlier. 

 Increase in Victim outreach services visiting hard to engage individuals offering earlier 
more timely assessment of risk to prevent escalation. 

 Increase in joint visits with LA to support victims with children to support in early risk 
identification. 

 Increase in Salford community DA campaign to increase awareness of domestic abuse 
and support to report. Neighbourhood awareness.  

Increased safety from domestic and family violence and improved wellbeing 

 Reduction in MARAC cases being heard 

 Reduction in Repeat cases at MARAC 

 Reduction in ADV cases being reported to the police. 

 Increase in CPS prosecutions  
 Increase in civil injunctions 

 Reductions in DHRs 

 Increase in target hardening/ referral to sanctuary (when appropriate) 

 Increase safe house and refuge moves (when appropriate) 
Increased perpetrator responsibility for abusive behaviour 

 Increase in attendance of behaviour change programmes  

 Reduction in MARAC repeat cases  
 Reduction of breaches of restraining orders/ injunctions 

 Reduction in breaches of contract  

Page 40



 

27 
 

 Increase in completion of perpetrator programmes 

 Increase attendance to family child protection conferences  

 Improved attendance if appropriate to mental health services   

 Improved attendance if appropriate to dependency services  

 Reduction in risk measured via follow up (6 months) 
Increased public awareness about domestic and family violence including available 
support services 

 Increased promotion of services throughout community bases 

 Increase presence on social media  

 Increased accessibility through partnership working with specialist services for victims, 
children an perpetrators with additional engagement strategy for marginalised individuals  

 Increase Campaign for neighbourhood ‘support to report’ 
 Increase presence in national victim’s campaigns  

 Increase involvement to align with local events and attended. 

 Family support group  
Reduced A&E attendances 

 Increase early intervention through earlier assessment 

 Increase crisis support  

 Increase target hardening 
 Increased long term emotional support to encourage long term change 

 Increase public awareness to report DA incidences  

 Increased in victims reporting abuse in particular coercive control and emotional abuse  
Reduced Primary Care interventions and a more responsive system to support 
identification 

 Increase in IRIS support sessions delivered within the practices  

 Training GP resource and manual 
 Increase in literature  

 Increase in promotion of all DA services inclusive of perpetrator and children’s DA 
services  ( ADV) 

 Increase in training session for GPs 

 Increase in presence within practices  

 Increase in telephone follow ups  
 Increase in email consultations   

Reduced Mental health needs for children and adults. 

 Increase referrals to specialist mental health Domestic abuse worker  

 Increase referral to specialist mental health services  

 Increase referral for YP to counselling services provided through YP DA service  

 Reduction in service users after service intervention reporting to have suicidal thoughts/ 
anxiety / depression. 

Reduced pressure on the workforce 

 Expected number of cases per case worker to fall, due to increase in specialist workers 

 Holistic service offering long term emotional support 

 Reduction in repeat referrals  

 Improved engagement plan with outreach model 

 Less duplication due to smooth referral pathway that is precise and doesn’t re-traumatise 
victims  

 Service user feedback to support in the service meeting demand and is client  
 Increase In training provided to improve on whole system approach  

Page 41



 

28 
 

 Partnership DA strategy ensuring responsibility is held by all partners (providers to feed 
into this strategy and be act in supporting its success  

 

10. Role of other services  

10.1 In Salford we have a wide range of provision and excellent multi agency working which 

will complement the commissioned provision. In order to achieve the best possible 

outcomes for people using services, it will be an essential requirement of the provision to 

build strong relationships with partners which sit outside of the provision, but within the 

wider complex needs system. A requirement for services to work together to support the 

work is set out below but is not exhaustive.  

Offer from Mental Health to Integrated 
system 

Offer from Integrated system to Mental 
Health. 

 Rapid access where agreed thresholds are 
met. 

 Expertise and advice readily available from 
specialist services  

 Workforce development and training 

 Support provided to those 
experiencing psychological 
distress who would not meet the 
threshold of statutory services. 

 Joint case working 
 Early access and prioritisation of 

access for perpetrators and 
victims  

Offer from Adult Social Care to 
Integrated system 

Offer from Integrated system to Adult 
Social Care 

 Early identification of need and 
integrated working with the Lead 
Provider  

 Joint working arrangements and 
information sharing 

 Pathways to deliver a more 
streamlined holistic approach. 

 Provide support creatively to 
reduce costly packages of care. 

 Develop links around ASC and LD 
offer  

Offer from Children’s Social Care to 
Integrated system 

Offer from Integrated system to 
Children’s Social Care 

 Early identification of need and 
integrated working with the Lead 
Provider  

 Access to supported 
accommodation for high support 
young people (dependant on 
capacity/prioritisation)  

 Joint working arrangements and 
information sharing  

 Pathways to deliver a more 
streamlined holistic approach. 

 Support regarding transitions to 
independence 

 Reduction in the use of 
emergency accommodation  

  A range of supported 
accommodation for young people 

 Streamlined pathway which is 
needs led. 

  Priority for vulnerable young 
people  

 Prevention of homelessness for 
young people and families 

Page 42



 

29 
 

Offer from Primary Care to Integrated 
system 

Offer from Integrated system to 
Primary Care 

 Easy access to IAPT  

  Homeless outreach GP service 

 Support to access health services 

 Provide IRIS IDAA provision  

 
Offer from Maternity services to 
Integrated System  

Offer from Integrated System to 
Maternity Services  

 Early identification of need and 
referral  

 Support via a maternity IDAA  

 Step up and step-down pathway.  

 Supported co-produced 
strategies.  

Offer from Employment to Integrated 
system 

Offer from Integrated system to 
Employment. 

 Work readiness/opportunities  Support around preparation for 
employment 

Offer from Housing Provision to 
integrated system 

Offer from Integrated System to 
Housing 

 Prioritisation for victims into 
supported tenancy and dispersed 
accommodation  

 Prevention of homelessness for 
young people and families 

 Early identification and referral of 
victims requiring support. 

 Joint planning and  

 

11. Proposed Provision  

11.1 To move towards a more integrated approach, it is imperative that new contracts 

interconnect and provide integrated support as a seamless system, which should feel to 

the end user as if it is a single service. This system will focus on removing blocks or 

process issues so it can be timely and responsive to changing levels of need. It will share 

information in the best interests of the service user and work with them in a consistent 

way, so risk becomes a shared responsibility. A professional, suitably skilled workforce of 

generic and specialist roles will support people through a range of interventions that 

support the whole person through a collaborative “whole systems” approach and have a 

focus on delivering better outcomes. 

12. Options Appraisal  

Option  Risks  Mitigation  

1. Continue to commission 
separate contracts.  

 Lack of control of 
the system  

 No collaboration 
between providers  

 No added value to 
existing contracts  

 Robust contracts 
stating importance 
of collaboration, 
Data sharing, use 
of the joint case 
management 
system etc. 

Page 43



 

30 
 

Option  Risks  Mitigation  

 Service users 
continue to fall 
through the gaps.  

 Duplication of 
interventions and 
multiple workers  

 Difficulty in 
engaging with 
Adult’s and 
Children’s Services 

 Robust contracting 
and more intensive 
performance 
monitoring 

 Improved Process 
and pathways, joint 
training, and 
practice guidance 

2. In House Provision delivered in-
house to provide a single 
support offer through a number 
of different referral routes 
including self-referral, all of 
which provide a timely, high 
quality consistent and 
comprehensive response. 

 Will essentially 
create an 
administrative 
function and will not 
build capacity in the 
services that need 
to respond. Will limit 
flexibility to use the 
resources available 
via Grants not 
available to the 
Local Authority.  

 TUPE liability where 
additional costs 
could apply and 
there is no money 
available in the 
budget to cover this. 

 Possibility of 
disengagement if it 
is a Council led 
service i.e., 
concerns around 
social care links etc. 

 Potential market 
failure for other 
contracts due to the 
reduction in the 
financial envelope 
to cover core offer. 

 The council cannot 
bid for grant funding 
available to the third 
sector  

 Risks destabilising 
the VCSE market  

 The staff could be 
co-located within 
specialist services 
to provide support 
and develop robust 
pathways and 
protocols to ensure 
a coordinated 
approach. 

 Co-location of staff 
will build capacity in 
specialist services 
and reduce the 
need for those 
services to spend 
time on 
administrative tasks 
and provide more 
resource for front-
line delivery. 

 Carry out market 
stimulation work 
with interested 
providers to 
improve the 
chances of 
securing suitable 
provider(s) 

3. Commission a Lead Provider 
Model contracted out to one 
lead provider for a five year 

 Providers not 
working 
collaboratively. 

 Contracts will 
include tight 
guidance over 

Page 44



 

31 
 

Option  Risks  Mitigation  
period +1 +1 dependant on 
quality and value for money and 
will provide a single support 
offer through a number of 
different referral routes including 
self-referral, all of which provide 
a timely, high quality consistent 
and comprehensive response. 
The co-location of staff with 
specialist services and 
pathways developed with adult’s 
and children’s social care single 
points of access. Service users 
can still directly access 
specialist services if they have a 
primary need and those with low 
or multiple needs will be 
referred back into the Lead 
Provider to take the pressure off 
specialist provision. 

 Financial envelope 
does not cover full 
range of 
requirements.  

 Integration with 
other services  

 

expectations of the 
Contract, 
performance 
monitoring and 
outcomes 
measures. 

 Development of the 
business case for 
investment  

 Co-location of the 
Lead Provider  

 
13. Conclusion and Recommendations  

13.1 The preferred option is Option 3 a Lead provider model is proposed which will enable 

one organisation to ‘hold the ring’ on all elements of the proposed provision, by 

stimulating the market, providers will be encouraged to collaborate. 

13.2 The system will establish a robust referral pathway between providers working across 

homelessness, domestic abuse, sexual violence, and substance misuse and operate a 

‘no wrong door’ principle. The service configuration to develop this will transition from 

multiple ‘unconnected’ services and contracts to a developed infrastructure which will 

embed an integrated system. The providers who form part of this system will work in 

collaboration and be proactive, flexible and solution focused in their approach. 

13.3 Additional Investment is required to tackle this intractable issue in Salford and an 

additional £333K would ensure a fully integrated system in Salford.  

13.4 Funding is currently contributed from a number of sources including Local Authority 

Place and People directorate, Clinical Commissioning group, and the proposal is that a 

fair shares approach is taken to contributions to this additional funding. 

13.5 Funding could be on a reducing basis whereby the Lead Provider would be expected to 

increase grant funding over the life of the contract so that contributions could reduce from 

Statutory Partners this would be over the life of the proposed Five +1 +1-Year contract  

 
14. Recruitment and Social Value  

 

Page 45



 

32 
 

14.1 The procurement process for the lead provider model will ensure our social value 
principles are adhered to and the provider would be expected to commit to optimising the 
social, environmental and economic well-being of Salford and its people in everything that 
we do, thinking long-term – turning investment into long-lasting outcomes, working 
together across sectors to provide Social Value outcomes, having values including 
inclusion, openness, honesty, social responsibility and caring for others, having a clear 
and current understanding of how Social Value can make Salford a better place 
 

Name Debbie Blackburn  
Assistant Director Public Health Nursing and Wellbeing  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



 

33 
 

 
 
Appendix A  
 
Outcome Framework for Lead Provider Model  
 
9.0 PERFORMANCE OUTCOMES 

 
9.1 The Commissioning arm of Salford’s local authority will put in place a 
performance framework which will be negotiated, developed and provided by the lead provider 
and monitored on a quarterly basis by the allocated Commissioning Manager and Contract 
Assistant.  
 
9.2 The Services will demonstrate a direct, positive, and measurable impact upon the 
following outcomes: the responsibility to achieve these outcomes will shared by the sub-
contractors and the lead provider through the development of a joint theory of change and 
outcome framework. This framework will be supported using safe-lives ‘insights’ to identify key 
outcomes for submission to the commissioner in a report format and will be accompanied by a 
report and numerous case studies. 
 

 Improving knowledge and understanding of domestic abuse 
 Improving awareness of the risks associated with domestic abuse. 

 Improving awareness of the potential harms associated with other/ related risk-taking 
behaviours (e.g., drug and alcohol misuse) 

 Improving awareness of Salford wide community services/ interventions around reducing 
domestic abuse 

 Improving self-esteem 

 Improving mental health and wellbeing 
 Improving confidence, skills, and resilience to manage the effect of domestic abuse.  

 Increasing knowledge on where to get help if I need it 

 Improving insight into respectful relationships 

 Improving insight into staying safe 

 Improving positive progress at nursery, school, college 

 Reduction in reoffending 
 Reduction in abusive behaviours 

 Reduction in stalking and harassment  

 Improve accountability for behaviours. 

 Increased involvement with social care 

 Reduced A&E attendances  

 Reduced Maxillofacial referrals  

 Reduced Orthopaedic referrals  
 Improved access to Mental Health Support  

 Reduction in victim blaming.  

 Reduction of risk through social care CIN, CP, PLO 

 Increase referral from GP and hospital staff. 

 Increase DA skill set of staff across the partnership. 

 Increase DA skill set of pastoral staff to deliver healthy relationship work within schools. 
 
 

Page 47



 

34 
 

 
 
 

Page 48



 

35 
 

 

 

i Domestic abuse: get help during the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic 
ii How long do people l ive with domestic abuse, and when do they get help to stop it? | Safelives  
iii  http://driveproject.org.uk 
iv http://driveproject.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/Executive-Summary_Final2020.pdf 
v http://driveproject.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/DriveYear3_UoBEvaluationReport_Final.pdf 
vi Northumbria University evaluation of the MATAC approach. Data accessed at http://n8prp.org.uk/wp -
content/uploads/2017/06/ MATAC-N8-presentation-final-11-June-2017.pdf 

                                                                 

Page 49

https://safelives.org.uk/policy-evidence/about-domestic-abuse/how-long-do-people-live-domestic-abuse-and-when-do-they-get


This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

                                                           
 
   
 

 
PLEASE INDICATE TIME REQUIRED TO PRESENT THE PAPER: 15 mins 

 
Children’s Commissioning Committee  
PART 1  

 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  

 
 
Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)   

 
14th July 2021 
 

Report of: 
 

Harry Golby 
Harry.Golby@nhs.net 

Date of Paper: 
 

23 August 21 

Subject: 
 

Business case for implementation of the 
new service specification for the 
community paediatrics service 

In case of query  
Please contact: 
 

Wendy Hodgson 
Wendy.Hodgson2@nhs.net 

Strategic Priorities:  Please tick w hich strategic priorities the paper relates to: 
 
 

 Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research 

 Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services) 

 Children’s and Maternity Services 

 Primary Care 

 Enabling Transformation 

Purpose of Paper:                                    

 
To request that the Commissioning Committee support the additional investment into the 
community Paediatric service supported at Service and Finance (S&F) group which will 
allow the development of the service to enable it to fully deliver the service specification. 
  

 
  

Page 51

Agenda Item 7



  
 

                                                           
 
   
 

Further explanatory information required 

 
 
HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP? 

 

The additional investment will enable the service 
to better meet the needs of vulnerable children 
and young people as defined in the service 
specification. 

 
WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED? 
  

 
These are defined in the full business case 
 

 
WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED? 
 

 
Additional investment will ensure a more 
equitable service for vulnerable children and 
young people.  

 
DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH RISKS FACING 
THE ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT 
ARE THEY AND HOW DOES THIS 
PAPER REDUCE THEM? 

 

 
N/A 

 
PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER. 
 

 
N/A 
 

 
PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER: 
 

The current Community Paediatric Service is 
struggling to meet a growing demand. The 
service is key to achievement of statutory 
requirements, and the delivery of local strategies 
like the SEND Strategy, elements of the 0-25 
Transformation programme and MDT working. 
The designated roles support the CCG and the 
system in the achievement of statutory functions 
for LAC, safeguarding, SEND and child deaths.  

Footnote: 
 
Members of Children’s Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed no 
amendments are possible. 
 

Page 52



 

   
 

 

          
       

Document Development 
 

Process Yes No 
Not 

Applicable 

Comments and Date 
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) 

Outcome 

Public Engagement 

(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 

consultation) 

   

This was completed as part of the 
service review in 2020 

 

Clinical Engagement 

(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation) 

   

Consultant community paediatrician 
involved in service review & business 
case.  GP clinical lead reviewed 

developments.  

 

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social Value and 
the impacts on Salford socially, economically and 
environmentally? 

   
Addressed within the full business 
case 

 

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality Analysis 

(EA) of any adverse impacts? 
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how 
these will be managed)  

 
  

Addressed within the full business 

case 

 

Legal Advice Sought 

 

 

 
  

  

Presented to any informal groups or committees 
(including partnership groups) for engagement or 
other formal governance groups for comments / 

approval?  

(Please specify in comments) 

   

CYPCG 20/04/21 & 18/05/21 

POG 27/04/21 

S&FG 04/05/21 & 01/06/21 

 

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 

work.

P
age 53



 

   
 

 

Business Case document suite Page 4 01/09/2021 

 Business case to support implementation of the new service specification for 

the community paediatrics service  
 

1.  Executive Summary 
   

 
The review of the Community Paediatric Service (CPS) between August 2018 and 
October 2020 identified gaps and issues. The existing service specification dated from 
2009 and so a revised service specification was developed highlighting areas that 
warranted additional investment to enable the service to respond to the challenges and 
needs within the population. 
 
The funding allocated against community paediatric projects in the Salford Annual Plan          
2021 is £100k. This is for both the Community Paediatric Service and the Paediatric 
Physiotherapy (PT) and Occupational Therapy (OT) services which were both reviewed 
last year and need additional resource to deliver revised specifications (OT / PT business 
case is awaited). 
 
The Service and Finance (S&F) group reviewed the business case (Appendix 1 attached) 
for the Community Paediatric Service in several meetings and following further discussion 
and development of revised options have supported option 5 which represents a reduction 
in the level of increased investment initially requested from £497,371.97 to £354,256 this 
includes some non-recurrent costs.   The 21/22 in year costs will be £104,803.   
The annual costs will be £354,256 
 
The investment will allow the development of the service to enable it to fully deliver the 
service specification. 
 

 
 

2.  Background 

 
2.1 Service Review 

 
            The review of the Community Paediatric Service (CPS) between August 2018 and 

October 2020 identified gaps and issues. The existing service specification dated from 
2009 and so a revised service specification was developed highlighting areas that 
warranted additional investment to enable the service to respond to the challenges and 
needs within the population. 

 
 
           Community paediatrics is a service delivered out of hospitals. Community paediatricians 

have expertise and specialist skills in the care of vulnerable children and children with 
long term conditions, including those with neuro-developmental disorders and 
disabilities, behavioural difficulties, social, emotional, and mental health difficulties and 
special educational needs and disability. The Community Paediatricians also hold 
Designated Medical Officer (DMO) and Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) roles within 
the specification which are CCG appointments.   

 
 

Page 54



 

   
 

 

Business Case document suite Page 5 01/09/2021 

            
 
 The Community Paediatric Service has been re-specified to take account of the core 

components identified by the Medical Royal Colleges, the pressures identified on the 
current service and the needs of the local population. The specification identifies that 
88.5 Consultant Programmed Activities (PAs) are required to deliver clinical care and 
statutory roles. In addition, a further 2.5 Supporting Professional Activities (SPAs) are 
recommended per consultant per week to underpin clinical care and contribute to 
ongoing professional development. The current service in Salford consists of 8.6 Whole 
Time Equivalents (WTE), the workforce required to deliver the 88.5 PAs is 12.6 WTE - 
this is a shortfall of 4 WTE within the Salford service. 

 
 

The funding allocated against community paediatric projects in the Salford Annual Plan 
for 2021 is £100k. This is for both the Community Paediatric Service and the Paediatric 
Occupational Therapy (OT) and Physiotherapy (PT) services, which were both 
reviewed last year and need additional resource to deliver revised specifications (OT / 
PT business case is awaited). 

 
 
2.2 The Community Paediatric Business Case 
 
 

           The full business case (appendix 1) outlines the options considered to enable the service 
to fully deliver on the service specification.  The business case was reviewed at the S&F 
group in May 2021.  At this meeting additional information was requested to show why 
further investment was required in the service.  

 
 
            A further paper was submitted in June. The fourth option which proposed an adjusted 

medical staffing model and reduced the requested increase in funding from £497,371.97 
to £378,623.06 was the preferred option but additional queries were raised regarding the 
finances. 

 
 
            Discussions with the Service following the June 2021 S&F Group meeting identified an 

alternative option by altering the skill mix within the team. A Fifth option was therefore 
added to the business case which further reduces the financial request to £364,256.00. 

 
 
            Option 5 will require the service to recruit a Consultant, a Staff Grade doctor, a Band 8a 

ANP, a Band 4 HCA and a Band 4 Admin. In addition, there is uplift for one of the existing 
Band 4 HCA posts involved in the neuro-development work to create a Band 5 post to 
allow further professional development. The new roles introduce some additional training 
requirements for the Band 8a ANP, Band 7 and Band 5 nurses around assessments i.e., 
Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule (ADOS) and observations, condition 
management and prescribing.  The service has assured the CCG that they can meet the 
full-service specification with this additional funding. 

 
           At the August S&F group option 5 was agreed to be the preferred option. 

Page 55



 

   
 

 

Business Case document suite Page 6 01/09/2021 

 
 
2.3 Option 5 In-year costs 

 
 

Implementation of the new proposed model will be achieved over several months        due 
to the time required for recruitment processes and training. It is anticipated that the in-
year costs for 21/22 will be £104,803. 

 
 

This cost covers 3 months employment of the Consultant, the Staff Grade Doctor, the 
Band 8a ANP, and Band 4 Admin and the 0.2 WTE increase for the current Band 7. In 
addition, the cost includes funding for 6 months of the uplift for one of the existing Band 
4 HCA posts to create a Band 5 plus the new Band 4 HCA.  

 
 
2.4 Option 5 Non-Recurrent costs  

 
 

Option 5 includes two elements which require non-recurrent funding; these are the IT 
and training costs which will be incurred this year following recruitment but will not be 
an ongoing requirement. These costs are included in the in-year cost of £104,803 
mentioned above. 
 
 

2.5      Option 5 Recurrent Costs 

 

 
           The ongoing annual increased investment requested to meet the revised specification is 

£354,256. 

 

3.         Risks 

 
 
3.1 There are pressures on the current service following changes to national policy and 

guidance, for example, the introduction of the Children & Families Act (2014), rises in 
safeguarding cases, neuro-developmental conditions and local predicted population 
increases. The service is currently managing this increased demand through prioritising 
clinical activity over supporting professional activities. However, this discretionary effort 
is contrary to the recommendations of the Royal Colleges and is not sustainable in the 
long term.  

 
 
3.2     The risk is that if the service is unable to secure additional investment it will be unable to 

maintain the level of current provision. This will mean that the service will be unable to 
continue to provide some services, the service specification will need to be scaled back 
and potentially young people will either not receive a service or will wait much longer to 
access care. In addition, it will impact on the achievement of statutory requirements for 

Page 56



 

   
 

 

Business Case document suite Page 7 01/09/2021 

Looked After Children (LAC), Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) and 
section 471 medicals. 

 
 
3.3    The extent of increased investment in the Community Paediatric Service is above the   

£100k set aside within the budget and carries the risk that other services may not be 
able to receive investment. 

 
 

4.       Recommendations 
 
 
4.1 The Childrens Commissioning Committee is asked to approve the implementation of 

option 5 as outlined in the business case. This will enable the service to meet the 
service specification. 

 
 
4.2       The Committee is asked to approve the additional investment to allow commissioning 

of the service to meet the revised specification for the reasons outlined in the Attached 
Business case with the expected in-year costs for 21/22 of £104,803 and recurrent 
costs of £354,256. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                                 
1 The Local Authority’s Children’s Social Care have a statutory duty to carry out a Section 47 Enquiry in any of the 

following circumstances: 

 Where there is information to indicate that a child has suffered or is likely to suffer  Significant Harm; 

 Where a child is subject to an Emergency Protection Order; 

 Where a child is subject to Police Protection. 

The purpose of the Section 47 Enquiry is to determine whether any further action is required to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of the child or children who is/are the subject of the Enquiry.  

 Page 57



 

   
 

 

Business Case document suite Page 8 01/09/2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendix 1 
 
 
 

 
 
         
 
 

Business Case  
 

 

Implementation of the new service 
specification for the community paediatrics 
service (CPS) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Version Control Log 
 

DATE SECTIONS NAME COMMENT 

24.02.21 2-4 EW  

Page 58



 

   
 

 

Business Case document suite Page 9 01/09/2021 

02.03.21 2-4 EW, AP, KS  

10.03.21 2 & 4 EW  

08.04.21 3 & 5 EW  
22.04.21 2, 5, 6 & 7 EW  

23.04.21 1 EW  
28.04.21 All (inc. option 4 in section 5) EW Following comments from POG 

05.08.21 5 (option 5) EW Following comments from S&FG 
    

Page 59



 

Business Case document suite Page 10 01/09/2021 

 

Table of Contents 
 
 

1 Executive Summary 
 

2 Strategic Context 
2.1 Background 
2.2 Community Paediatric Service 
2.3 Health / service needs 
2.4 Problem / Opportunity 
2.5 Current situation 

 

3 Project Description 
3.1 Project description 
3.2 Objectives 
3.3 Scope 
3.4 Risks (business and operational) 
3.5 Anticipated outcomes 
3.6 Strategic alignment 

 
4 Non-financial Option Development 

4.1 Benefits criteria 
4.2 Impact on the local community and environment 
4.3 Options & options appraisal 
4.4 Recommended Option 
4.5 Risk assessment 

 
5 Financial Option Appraisal 
 5.1 Existing financial costs 

5.2 Costed options 
5.3 Issues to consider 
5.4 Non-financial benefits 

 
6 Recommended Option 

6.1 Recommended option 
6.2 Considerations 

 
7 Project Management Arrangements 

 
8 Appendices 

Page 60



 

Business Case document suite Page 11 01/09/2021 

Section 1 Exective Summary                ………                        
 
Following a review of the Community Paediatric Service (CPS) between August 2018 and October 2020 
a number of gaps and issues were identified. The existing service specification dated from 2009 and a 
revised service specification was developed highlighting areas that warranted additional investment to 
enable the service to respond to the challenges and needs within the population.  
 
Community paediatrics is a service delivered out of hospitals. Community paediatricians have expertise 
and specialist skills in the care of vulnerable children and children with long term conditions, including 
those with neuro-developmental disorders and disabilities, behavioural difficulties, social, emotional 
and mental health difficulties and special educational needs and disability . 
 
Traditionally a consultant will work in terms of programmed activities (PAs) which are blocks of 
time, usually equivalent to four hours, in which contractual duties are performed. There are four 
basic categories of contractual work: direct clinical care, supporting professional activities (SPA s), 
any strategic and clinical lead roles, and external duties. SPAs underpin clinical care and contribute 
to ongoing professional development as a clinician. 
 
The Salford service consists of 10 staff – 6 WTE consultants and 2.6 WTE non-consultant grade staff (8.6 
WTE).  The nature and relative volumes of childhood illness have changed in recent decades with more 
mental health and neurodevelopmental disorders such as ASD and ADHD being diagnosed, greater 
reporting and awareness of safeguarding issues and more emphasis on children in public care. These, 
together with national changes like the introduction of the Children & Families Act (2014)  and additional 
statutory duties, have added to the volume and complexity of community paediatric roles. In Salford 
there are increasing numbers of children and young people (CYP) with a long-term illness or disability, 
increasing requests for medical advice within EHCPs, a high proportion of child in care or children subject 
to a child protection plan and requests for Section 47 medicals. The service is currently managing this 
increased demand through prioritising clinical activity over supporting professional activities. However, 
this is contrary to recommendations of the Royal Colleges and is not sustainable in the long term.  
 
The CPS has been re-specified to take account of the core components identified by the 
Medical Royal colleges, the pressures identified on the current service and the needs of 
the local population. The specification identifies that 88.5 PAs are required to deliver clinical 
care and statutory roles. In addition, a further 2.5 SPAs are recommended per consultant per 
week to underpin clinical care and contribute to ongoing professional development as clinicians. 
The current service in Salford consists of 8.6 WTE, the workforce required to deliver the 88.5 
PAs is 12.6 WTE - this is a shortfall of 4 WTE within the Salford service. 
 
If the service is unable to secure additional investment it will be unable to maintain the level of 
current provision. This will mean that the service is unable to continue to provide some services, 
the service specification will need to be scaled back and potentially young people will either not 
receive a service or will wait much longer to access care. In addition, it will impact on the 
achievement of statutory requirements for Looked After Children (LAC), Special Educational 
Needs & Disabilities (SEND) and Section 47 (safeguarding) medicals and staff morale will suffer.  
 
Three options are considered in the business case: 
Option 1 - Do nothing – do not implement the new service specification which would mean that 

the required elements would be scaled back leading to potential increased waits for children and 
young people to access the service and other elements would not be taken forward.  

Page 61



 

Business Case document suite Page 12 01/09/2021 

Option 2 – Partial delivery of the new service specification – this would see some additional 

investment into the service that would mean mandatory elements are covered and required 
elements are prioritised so that some could be taken forward and others would be scaled back, 
but the service would not fully meet the needs of vulnerable children and young people in 
Salford. 
Option 3 – Complete delivery of the new service specification - the new service specification 
is implemented in full. 
The recommended option is Option 3 but this would require additional recurrent investment into the 
service of £364,256.00 in 2021/22. 
 
This will ensure complete delivery of the new service specification and opportunities for 
realisation of the benefit criteria identified within the business case, namely: 
1. Achievement of national standards (including Initial Health Assessments for LAC within 20 

working days, Section 47 medicals within 24 hrs, medical advice for Education Health & 
Care Plans (EHCP) within 6 weeks, new referrals for epilepsy seen within 2 weeks) 

2. Delivery of Designated Dr functions for safeguarding, LAC, SEND & child deaths in line with 
service level agreements / service specifications to support the CCG 

3. Support to partner agencies through provision of advice & guidance (A&G), participation in 
multi-disciplinary teams (MDTs) & medical advice for fostering & adoption 

4. Delivery of the clinical elements of the new neuro-developmental pathway transformation 
project ensuring a better experience for children & young people (CYP) & their families 

5. Provision of clinical assessments for children with complex needs in a more responsive and 
timely manner 

It will also ensure that the new service specification is delivered in its entirety to support 
achievement of the outcomes, aims and objectives for vulnerable children and young people 
identified. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 62



 

Business Case document suite Page 13 01/09/2021 

Section 2 Strategic Context                ………                       … 
 

2.1 Background 
The current service specification for Community Paediatrics dates from March 2009. Legislative and 
organisational changes have rendered this out of date and as such there is no relevant service 
specification for the service that is commissioned. Therefore, a service review was requested into the 
Community Paediatric Service (CPS) provided by Salford Royal Foundation Trust (SRFT). This was 
originally undertaken between August 2018 and February 2019. The review was solely concerned with 
the CPS and did not look at General Paediatrics or Paediatric Outpatients.  
 
The purpose of the review was to understand the capacity of the CPS to meet current and projected 
demand, whether the service met the CCG’s statutory obligations under the Children and Families Act 
(2014), met the needs of the population of Salford and provided assurance regarding service quality. 
The scope of the review included community paediatric locality clinics & specialist clinics; MDT locality 
working; statutory roles; supporting activities required to ensure safe service delivery and involvement 
in transformation projects and pilots.  
 
The key findings of the initial review were: 

 There were gaps within some of the statutory roles  

 Capacity issues due to increasing requests for medical advice in EHCPs, referrals to LAC clinics, 
increases in the number of child protection medicals, and additional activity from the new Autism 
Spectrum Disorder (ASD) pathway 

 Pressure on waiting times for new referrals and follow-up appointments 

 Impact on the service of new transformation pilots including the ASD pathway and Children with 
Disabilities pilot in the south locality 

 No quality concerns and a high level of satisfaction from patient feedback. 
 
The review concluded that overall the service engaged with new developments but that it was managing 
due to high levels of discretionary effort that is not sustainable. The review made a number of 
recommendations for the service and commissioners. The principle of these was to develop an up to 
date service specification, to include meaningful outcome focused key performance indicators (KPIs). In 
commencing the work to re-specify the CPS it became clear that there were outstanding pieces of 
information that needed to be added to the review, and some supplementary work undertaken. This 
included a consultation with stakeholders, staff, parents / carers and children and young people. This 
was delayed due to COVID-19 but a supplementary report was produced in October 2020. 
 
This report identified a number of gaps and issues that were considered within the re-specification of 
the service. Below are the areas that warrant additional investment:  
i. Equity of offer to Craig Hall – no clinics in school for pre-school children due to staff time and 

appropriate clinic space  
ii. Lack of support for CYP with complex social and emotional mental health (SEMH) 

[An option to address the above two points would be to commission complex needs clinics 
for physical disability and for SEMH accessible to all CYP] 

iii. An option for GP hubs / neighbourhood working - protected time for locality MDT working 
would need to be considered (currently only available for 0-5yrs) 

iv. Neuro-developmental pathway to be rolled out in 2020: this will create additional pressure on 
the service as it is for all ages and all referrals  

v. Address issues raised around Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) management 
including pathway between CPS and Child & Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) 

Page 63



 

Business Case document suite Page 14 01/09/2021 

for straightforward ADHD, a pathway for children under 6yrs and for primary school age 
children  

vi. Option for A&G within community paediatrics building on success of other paediatric A&G & 
phone line offered during COVID-19 

vii. Need for specialist behavioural clinics for those children with ASD without learning difficulties  
viii. Ensure the current continence provision is meeting the needs of complex CYP 
ix. Need to ensure the epilepsy service is meeting the revised best practice tariff which 

recommends access to psychology in clinics (currently available through referral) 
x. Need to address the access to cognitive / developmental assessments through CAMHS 

 
The report recommended that the CPS needed to be re-specified to ensure that it is able to 
respond to the challenges and needs within the population. The re-specification needed to 
include a review of the identified gaps and issues to determine the appropriateness of their 
inclusion within the new specification. The re-specification also needed to consider the options 
regarding the designated roles that are currently provided by the service but specified 
separately.  
Work commenced in November 2020 to re-specify the CPS and a new service specification has been 
developed – see Appendix 1. 
 
2.2 The Community Paediatric Service 
Community paediatricians have had general paediatric training but then go on to develop expertise and 
specialist skills in the care of vulnerable children and children with long term conditions, including those 
with neuro-developmental disorders and disabilities. Community paediatrics is different to general 
paediatrics as it is works with children with complex needs; general paediatrics focusses more on acutely 
unwell children with common paediatric illnesses.  
 
Community paediatrics is a service delivered out of hospitals; it is an outpatient specialty where children 
are usually seen in their communities, in venues closer to home. The case load is complex and includes 
children with: 
• Long term conditions such as epilepsy or genetic conditions such as Downs Syndrome 
• Neuro-developmental disorders - such as developmental delay, language disorders, Developmental 

Co-ordination Disorder, ASD 
• Associated developmental behavioural difficulties e.g. with sleep, eating and continence  
• Social, emotional and mental health difficulties presenting with challenging behaviours where the 

role is to determine any underlying conditions that are causing children to behave in different / 
difficult ways e.g. adverse childhood experiences, ADHD or attachment difficulties 

• SEND including physical disorders such as Cerebral Palsy, various neuro-muscular conditions, 
and/or learning disabilities 

• Vulnerable children – including safeguarding assessments, LAC, and those in the process of being 
adopted, Sudden Unexpected Death of a Child (SUDC) 

• Audio-vestibular services for children 
Generally, the children are complex, with multiple needs and will fall into more than one of the above 
categories.  
 
The service provides a holistic assessment, diagnosis, manageme nt and in some cases long term 
oversight of the most complex children.  The aim is to identify difficulties early, treat effectively and 
monitor carefully to prevent any secondary morbidity. This is done through outpatient clinic 
consultations and through liaison and working with colleagues both in health (internal and external to 
SRFT) and wider partners in education and social care. The service is delivered in a number of different 

Page 64



 

Business Case document suite Page 15 01/09/2021 

community locations at seven different clinics. Specialist services are de livered out of the paediatric hub 
at Pendleton Gateway.  
 
The service is for children and young people from 0-18yrs (up to 19yrs with special educational needs), 
offering continuity of care and support to transition to adult services. Multiagency working i s key to 
success for children with complex needs, and locality working enables links with partners in education 
and social care and participation in MDT meetings.  
 
In addition to the clinical activity, there is supporting (non-clinical) activity that takes place. Traditionally 
a consultant will work in terms of programmed activities (PAs) which are blocks of time, usually 
equivalent to four hours, in which contractual duties are performed. There are four basic 
categories of contractual work: 

 direct clinical care (DCC) - any work that involves the delivery of clinical services and 
administration directly related to them (admin is usually 1 PA per clinic)  

 supporting professional activities (SPAs) 
 additional responsibilities e.g. strategic and clinical lead roles including Designated 

Doctors for Safeguarding, LAC, SUDC and SEND and any GM & Royal College roles 
 external duties e.g. service development and transformation work, including attendance 

at specialist networks, involvement at GM and with the Royal College   
 
SPAs underpin clinical care and contribute to ongoing professional development as a clinician. 
This includes activities like teaching and training; medical education; continuing professional 
development; clinical governance such as audit and peer review and appraisal and revalidation, 
i.e. activities that are essential to the long-term maintenance of the quality of the service but do not 
represent direct patient care. The amount of time in an individual’s job plan allocated to SPAs will 
partly depend on their grade and there is some national variation. The Academy of Medical Royal 
Colleges estimates that 1 to 1.5 SPAs per week are the minimum for a consultant’s continuing 
professional development (CPD) for revalidation purposes. Trusts may consider approving  more SPA 
time for additional non-direct clinical care activities. Typically a job plan will include an average of 
7.5 programmed activities for direct clinical care duties and 2.5 programmed activities for 
supporting professional activities.   
 
The Salford service consists of 10 staff – 6 WTE consultants and 2.6 WTE non-consultant grade staff (8.6 
WTE).  It is predominantly a consultant led service, but there is also an associate specialist, a specialty 
doctor and a specialist nurse.  
 
In October 2020 on the current caseload there were: 

- Approximately 1,750 children on the clinic caseloads  
- 129 children in the neuro-disability clinic  
- 210 children in the epilepsy clinic 

In 2019: 
- 1,410 appointments with children in locality clinics for LTC / developmental disorders  
- 245 LAC were seen for an Initial Health Assessment or a permanency assessment 

- 374 children received medical advice to contribute towards an EHCP 

There are limited measures that allow a comparison between Salford and other areas, benchmarking is 
very difficult because there is a wide variety of provision across different community paediatric services, 
therefore data is often not comparing like with like. However below is some information on referral 
rates into a CPS and waiting times, comparing Salford with England. In the table below Salford figures 
are extrapolated to the same rate as the national ones for comparison. The national data shows an 

Page 65



 

Business Case document suite Page 16 01/09/2021 

average of 1,940 referrals per 100,000 children 0-19yrs. The 0-19 population of Salford is approximately 
60,000 children; therefore 1,164 referrals a year would be expected. However, for the last 3 years, the 
service has averaged 1,478 referrals a year (an extra 314 referrals or 27%). Average waiting times 
nationally to the first appointment are 14.6 weeks, in Salford it is 59.8 days or 8.5 weeks (Sept 2020). 
However, prioritising initial appointments in Salford put pressure on timeframes for follow-up 
appointments, and there were delays of up to 2 / 3 months on follow-up appointments in September 
2020, meaning additional waiting times for families. 
 
Table 1: Benchmarking Data 

Referrals National Salford 

Referrals per 100, 000 1940 2446 

Waiting times (new) 14.6 weeks 8.5 weeks 

 

The service has evolved and now is a completely specialist service, any screening / universal services 
previously delivered, such as baby clinics, have been taken out and are provided differently e.g. 
developmental assessments are now done by the 0-19 Service. Following initiation of a treatment plan, 
the child will be discharged, so that there is little routine monitoring that takes place, unless active 
interventions are needed. The service has adapted and reviewed the skill mix throughout this period 
and developed some specialist nurse roles to support the community paediatric clinics and to deliver 
the continence service.  Expertise from the learning disability nursing team has been used to provide 
nurse-led behaviour support clinics for children with autism. The consultant team is supported by an 
associate specialist and staff grade doctor, and paediatric specialty trainees rotate through the 
department and work alongside consultants as part of their training.  
 
Covid-19 has encouraged the service to work differently and challenged the previously standard position 
of outpatient face to face service delivery. Over this time, many appointments have been delivered 
virtually, either by telephone or video call, and have proved useful and often more convenient for 
families. Not everything can be done in this way and urgent Face to Face (F2F) appointments have 
continued. Going forward F2F appointments will still be needed for initial assessments and for physical 
examination or developmental / social communication assessments, but the service will continue to run 
a mix of F2F and virtual appointments. Some telephone appointments have been lengthy due to the 
families struggling during COVID, so it remains to be seen if this is actually a more efficient way of 
working. In addition, a lot of CPS appointments are already patient initiated, parents contact the service 
between appointments with queries or problems that merit a review F2F or by telephone. Patient 
initiated reviews do not work for all families, particularly where there are safeguarding concerns. 
 

Table 2: Finances 2020/21  

Community Paediatrics (Medical Child Health) 

Inc. 
Designated Dr for Looked after Children 
Designated Dr for Safeguarding £920,363 

Designated Medical Officer for SEND £55,104* 

Designated paediatrician for unexpected deaths in childhood £21,320 

Total £996,787 
* This figure is for 5 PAs which is spread across the DMO (community paediatrician) for 2PAs and the DCO (consultant speech and language 
therapist) for 3PAs 

 
2.3 Health / Service Needs 

Page 66



 

Business Case document suite Page 17 01/09/2021 

The following information is taken from the Children with Disabilities Needs Assessment (2018).  The 
needs assessment sets out the limitations and difficulties of trying to estimate the prevalence of 
disability as there is no definitive national or local data on the proportion of the child population which 
is defined as disabled using a commonly understood definition that fits all services. In addition, due to 
Salford’s socio-economic makeup and higher than average levels of deprivation, all estimated 
prevalence figures based on literature research are likely to be under estimations.  
 
Current estimations are that there are 7,559 children aged 0-19 years with a long-term illness or 
disability and a further 3,569 children and young people (CYP) where this is limiting. The needs 
assessment notes that: 

 Children aged 0 to 4 and 5 to 9 years display a lower prevalence than children in the higher age 
groups, possibly due to certain illnesses or disabilities not diagnosed until later in childhood.  

 Boys have a higher rate of disability than girls and are more likely to experience social and 
behavioural, learning and memory difficulties.  

 The rate of severe disability or limiting illness is greatest amongst children from ‘never worked’ and 
‘long term unemployed’ family backgrounds. 

 
In addition, the Designated Medical Officer for SEND Annual Reports show that requests for 
medical advice within EHCPs has been steadily increasing, from 190 in 2015/16 to 368 in 
2019/20 - it has been fairly consistent at this latter figure for the last 3 years. In 2019/20 60% of 
advice was completed with 6 weeks.  
 
The following information is taken from the Looked After Children and Young People Annual Report 
(2019/20) and the Safeguarding Children Annual Report 2019-20. The Looked After population for 
2019/20 has ranged from 558 to 593 during 2019-20. 17.6% of the children in care in Salford have a 
disability. At 31st March 2019, Salford had the fourth highest rate of Looked After Children in Greater 
Manchester and a lower rate than statistical neighbours. The Salford figures have decreased by 4% from 
the previous 12 months. 
 
Table 3: Number and rates per 10,000 children for England, Salford and statistical neighbours for LAC as at 
31/03/19 

 Number of Looked After Children as at 
31/03/19 

Rate per 10,000 children 

England 78,150 65 

Salford 583 103 

South Tyneside 306 102 

Middlesbrough 519 160 

Newcastle Upon Tyne 683 118 

Hartlepool 284 142 

 
Salford has higher than national rates (per 10,000 children aged under 18 years) of children subject to 
child protection plans (CPP), 62.3 children compared to 45.3 nationally. The numbers of children made 
subject to a CPP in Salford has continued to increase. The majority of CPPs in Salford are under the 
category neglect which mirrors the national trend.  
 
The number of Section 47 Child Protection Medicals undertaken at SRFT annually is shown in the table 
below: 
 

Table 4: Child Protection Medicals’ Undertaken  

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 

130 142 183 138 144 Page 67



 

Business Case document suite Page 18 01/09/2021 

 

2.4 The Problem  
RCPCH and the British Association for Community Child Health (BACCH) produced Covering 
All Bases – Community Child Health: A Paediatric Workforce Guide (2017). This identified core 
components of a community paediatric service and provided an estimate of the workforce and 
skills needed to deliver this.  The report recognised that the nature and relative volumes of 
childhood illness had changed in recent decades with more mental health and 
neurodevelopmental disorders such as autism and ADHD being diagnosed, greater reporting 
and awareness of safeguarding issues and more emphasis on children in public care. These, 
together with additional statutory duties have added to the volume and complexity of community 
paediatric roles. In addition, the scope and provision of community paediatrics is complex and 
varied across the UK, making it difficult to measure and the voices of children, young people, 
parents and carers hard to hear. It may also fall below the radar of NHS trusts and 
commissioners.  The survey conducted as part of the report highlighted that there were often 
too few staff with too little time to meet statutory roles; many services could not collect basic 
data; there were long wats for initial and follow-up appointments and the rising demand and a 
high level of vacancies risked ‘burn out’ amongst professionals.   
 
The table below summarises the core components of the service identified in the report. All are 
provided in Salford, however as noted in the original review, it is managing due to high levels of 
discretionary effort that is not sustainable. The impact is mainly felt on supporting professional 
activity, which has been curtailed.  

 
Table 5: Key Components of a Community Paediatric Service 

Services Components Provision in Salford 

Long term conditions 
/ complex needs 

Neuro-disability e.g. Cerebral palsy 
Epilepsy 
Genetic conditions 

Locality caseload, neuro-disability 
clinics and epilepsy clinic 

Vulnerable Children Safeguarding / S47 

LAC 
Statutory Roles for safeguarding and LAC 

Daily S47 medicals  

Dedicated LAC clinics 
Named and Designated Drs for 
safeguarding and LAC 

Developmental 

Disorders / SEND 

Neuro-developmental disorders  

Autism 
EHCP 
Statutory role for SEND 
Social, emotional and mental health 

Audio-vestibular 

Locality clinics 

Neuro-developmental pathways / CDF 
EHCP clinic 
Diagnostic audio-vestibular clinics 

 
Covering All Bases identifies national pressures like the increase in EHCPs and increasing numbers of 
LAC, Child Protection and ASD cases. These are being felt in Salford. The number of requests for health 
advice within EHCPs has stabilised, but it has stabilised at a higher number than the old statements of 
educational need and is therefore a pressure on the service. Salford has high numbers of looked after 
children which all require an initial health assessment by a community paediatrician within 20 working 
days of becoming looked after. 
 

Page 68



 

Business Case document suite Page 19 01/09/2021 

The service is integral to service developments that are part of the 0-25 transformation 
programme, including the new neuro-developmental pathway, being developed in conjunction 
with CAMHS. This will mean that all ASD and ADHD diagnostic assessments, which were 
previously undertaken within CAMHS, are gradually moving across to the community paediatrics 
service. Both services have collaborated, along with therapy services, to establish the ASD 
panels required for NICE compliance with autism diagnosis. 
 
In addition, the city growth is expected to continue with a further 12,000 residents in the next 
five years. Salford has a younger population than the average for England; with a third of the 
population aged 20-39 years (compared to 26% across England), a lower proportion in older 
age groups, and proportionately more young children. The 0-25 population (83,700 in 2019) is 
projected to grow by 5% over the next five years. This includes a slight fall in the Under 10s 
(<1%) and with most of the growth in the 10-19 age range, which is projected to grow by 14% 
or 4,000 young people.  
 

2.5 The Current Situation 
There are pressures on the current service through national changes like the introduction of the 
Children & Families Act (2014), rises in safeguarding cases and neuro-developmental conditions 
and local predicted population increases. The service is currently managing this increased 
demand through prioritising clinical activity over supporting professional activities. However, this 
is contrary to recommendations of the Royal Colleges and is not sustainable in the long term. 
The service requires additional investment, or it will need to review the activity that is undertaken.  

Page 69



 

Business Case document suite Page 20 01/09/2021 

Section 3 Project Description            ………………………                                                         
 

3.1 Project Description 
The core components of a community paediatric service described in Covering All Bases include services 
for long term conditions and complex needs, services for vulnerable children and services for 
developmental disorders and SEND. While the service components are outlined, provision is not 
prescribed and may vary area to area.  
 
The Salford service has been re-specified in the light of the above document and the service review 
mentioned in section 2 above. The new service specification is available in Appendix 1. The service 
specification outlines the desired outcomes for the service, to ensure that children and young people:   
•  Are as healthy and safe as possible 
•  Achieve the best education outcomes they can 
•  Be as well equipped for adult life as they can be 
•  Have a voice and appropriate influence over plans for them 
•  Have a sense of belonging and value 
•  Have aspirations and opportunities to achieve them 
• Achieve their optimum quality of life, by maximum participation in family life and social inclusion; 

and by becoming as independent as possible in all activities of daily living.  
 
The aims of the service are to:  
1. Work with partners to improve the health and wellbeing of vulnerable children and young 

people, and those with long term conditions, through early identification of risk factors, 
prevention, intervention and health promotion 

2. Intervene early to prevent escalation of need through provision of high quality, evidence- 
based, accessible, convenient and safe services 

3. Support children and young people to achieve their outcome goals and to help those who 
care for them to support their development  

4. Respond to the needs of specific groups of children and young people, including those 
with neuro-developmental disorders and disabilities, those with SEND, those with life 
limiting and life threatening conditions and illness, those with developmental needs, 
looked after children and those subject to safeguarding, adoption and fostering 

5. Work as part of a broad, multi-disciplinary network to increase the knowledge and skills 
of staff in other services and provide clinical designated expert paediatric leadership 

The key components of the Salford service are noted in table 6 below, the provision is denoted in terms 
of programmed activities per week (a PA is usually equivalent to four hours). The proposed PAs 
required to deliver the elements of the Salford CPS specification are denoted in the final column. 
This covers the direct clinical care and statutory roles. Two of the statutory roles are included 
within the main contractual amount and two are funded separately – see table 2 in section 2 
above. 
 
The determination of the number of PAs required for each activity below has been provided by 
the current service to meet local need, and is based on: 

- Current delivery of clinics & medical assessments 
- Comparison with existing advice & guidance service in general paediatrics  
- Time allocated in Designated Dr SLAs / service specifications 
- Experience in current named Dr roles & clinical supervision 
- Extrapolation from current MDT provision 
- Projected need within the new neuro-developmental pathway 

Page 70



 

Business Case document suite Page 21 01/09/2021 

It also takes into account the views of the Medical Royal colleges around best practice in the 
balance of programmed activities (PAs) and supporting professional activities (SPAs). 
 
 
 
Table 6: Key components of the Salford CPS 

Service 
Mandatory (M)   
Required (R) 

Provision  - PAs 
per wk 

Facilitation services 
   

Advice & Guidance for community paediatric cases  
(in hours – 2 hours per day) No 2.5  

Individual MDT Meetings for children with complex needs inc. 
- vulnerable children (TAF/CIN/case conferences/strategy meetings)  

- Neurodevelopmental disorders (school meetings/ MAMs/ FSP / EHCP 
reviews) 
Only attended if very complex needs  No 2.5  

Services for Vulnerable Children   

Safeguarding Medical assessments (physical abuse, neglect) 
Provis ion of an urgent medial assessment to determine & document 
harm following suspicion of child maltreatment. M 5  

Statutory role - Designated Doctor for safeguarding / Lead 
paediatrician for child protection 

Responsible for ensuring that the health service response is effective & 
named doctors are supported to work effectively in provider trusts.  
Contribute strategic medical advice to the LSCP & wider overall 

health/education/children's services provision M 3  
Statutory role - Named Doctor for safeguarding children / 
Paediatrician with special interest in child protection 
To oversee provision of child protection service within a  provider trust 
or health board, including reporting internally & externally & ensuring 

medical s taff are suitably tra ined & undergo peer review. M  2  
Statutory role – Designated Doctor for child deaths and SUDC service 
Process & roles relating to all child deaths including SUDIC.  Includes 
s tatutory role of Designated Paediatrician for Unexpected Deaths in 
Chi ldhood & l ink with Child Death Overview Panel representative. M 2  

Clinical SUDC service 
Medical provision to the rapid response service as per GM protocol R 2  

Statutory and clinical Role - Medical Adviser for fostering & adoption 
Covers  health & emotional assessment of children being proposed for 

adoption or long term fostering. 
- Clinic 
- Adult health assessment M 

 

 
 

 
2 
1 

Looked after children (LAC) clinical role 
Provis ion of initial health assessments (IHA) for physical & mental 
health wellbeing of CYP, plus advise & counselling on a  healthy l ifestyle 

as  they become looked after. 
- Clinic  
- Advice M 

2 
0.5  

Statutory role - Designated LAC doctor 
Provis ion of strategic advice on the health of local LAC.  Responsible for 
s trategic service planning & advice regarding policies, adverse events, 
tra ining & supervision & are separate from any responsibilities for 
individual CYP who are looked after.  Includes advice to commissioners 
& preparation of the annual health report. M 2  

Page 71



 

Business Case document suite Page 22 01/09/2021 

Statutory Role - Named LAC doctor 
Provis ion of operational advice on the health of local LAC.  Responsible 
for promoting good professional practice within their organisation, 
providing supervision, advice & expertise for fellow professionals, 
quality assurance of health assessments & ensuring that awareness 

tra ining is in place. M 

 
 
 
 

2  

Services for children with neuro-developmental conditions 

Complex developmental conditions (including the clinical element of 
Neurodevelopmental pathway) 
This  is a diverse group of conditions which forms the majority of the 

loca lity work and includes: 
• phys ical disability including motor disorders  
• intellectual disability 
•impairment of special senses 
•acquired brain injury, neurodegenerative & neuromuscular disorder & 
other acquired disability conditions 
•less complex developmental difficulties including SALT, motor delay & 
developmental co-ordination disorders 
•progressive conditions 
•inherited/genetic disorders 

•consequent comorbidities such as epilepsy management 
Provided through locality cl inics and MDT complex needs cl inic for the 
most complex children 

- Currently 16 clinics + 1PA admin per clinic 
- Complex needs clinics  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
R 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

32 
5 

Neurodevelopmental Panel for MDT co-ordination and case 
management for Autism Spectrum disorders, Attention Deficit 
hyperactivity disorder and other neurodevelopmental presentations 
ASD is  a l ifelong disorder which significantly limits or impairs the 
activi ties of daily l iving characterised by difficulties interacting & 

communicating with other people and restricted, repetitive patterns of 
behaviours, interests or activities. 
ADHD presents with high levels of hyperactivity, impulsivity & 

inattention that results in s ignificant psychological, social and /or 
educational or functional impairment that occurs across multiple 
domains & settings & persists over time. 

 
Cl inical assessment through locality clinics as above but 

Multiagency case management through neuro-developmental pathway 
including triage, support for the assessment process and diagnostic 
decision making  

- neurodevelopmental panel  
- ASD diagnostic panels for all localities.  R 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
2 
0.5 

Provision of cognitive assessments as part of the neurodevelopmental 

assessment 
Weekly cl inic and reports R 2  

Special educational needs & disability (SEND) service 
Provis ion of medical assessment & report for CYP who are subjects of 
SEN assessment.  Children known to service will be assessed in the 

loca lity cl inics. Those not previously known invited to a  dedicated 
weekly EHCP cl inic. This covers the full age range including 18-25 year 

olds R 3  
Designated medial officer for SEND 

Work closely with the paediatric multi-disciplinary team supporting all 

activi ties necessary to ensure that the health provider services & CCG 
meet their responsibilities for children with SEND.  Provide overall 

s trategic direction for local health services in meeting statutory 
requirements for SEND, identifying priorities for development & 
faci litating improvement in implementation R 

 
 

 
 
5  

Page 72



 

Business Case document suite Page 23 01/09/2021 

Services for other paediatric conditions including epilepsy, sensory impairments and continence 

Long term medical conditions - Epilepsy 

LTCs  are conditions that cannot currently be cured but can be 
control led with the use of medication and/or other therapies.   
Provis ion of epilepsy service as per best practice tariff 

- Lead consultant  
- Clinic  
- Clinical psychology time (to be sourced from CAMHS) R 

 

 
 
 

1 
4 

1 
Paediatric audiology/ audio-vestibular medicine 
Audio-vestibular conditions include the detection, assessment & 
management of children who are suspected of having a  hearing 
impairment or where a  hearing impairment needs to be excluded e.g. 

as  part of a  more general developmental assessment or assessment for 
SEN 

- Provision of specialist diagnostic clinics, microsuction 
and lead for HI children 

- MDT approach for severe SNHL   
- Lead for service R 

 
 
2.5  
0.5  
0.5  

Vision impairment 
Vis ion impairment (VI) i s present when "the CYP's VI interferes with 
optimal development, learning & achievements, unless adaptions are 
made in the methods of presenting learning experiences, the nature of 
the materials used and/or the learning environment (the term 

"learning" includes not just academic learning but the acquisition of 
mobi lity, l ife & social skills) No 

No additional – 

seen in locality 
cl inic 

Constipation, soiling, urinary incontinence 
Constipation means not passing s tools regularly or being unable to 

completely empty your bowel.  Constipation with no anatomical or 
phys iological cause i s termed "idiopathic".  Nocturnal enuresis is 
defined as "the symptom of involuntary wetting during sleep without 

any inherent suggestion of frequency or pathophysiology" (NICE 2010) 
- clinical supervision of nurse-led service 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
No 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
1  

Mental health & behavioural problems 
This  refers to specific mental health conditions e.g. emotional disorders 
(including depression, anxiety, phobias); behavioural disorders in pre-
schoolers (food selectivity, s leep disorders, tantrums); eating disorders 
(anorexia, bulimia, obesity); conduct disorders; oppositional defiance 

disorders, psychosis; self-harm and substance misuse. No 

No additional – 
seen in locality 

cl inic 

Total   88.5  

 
This highlights that 88.5 PAs are required to deliver clinical care and statutory roles. In addition, a further 
2.5 SPAs are recommended per consultant per week to underpin clinical care and contribute to ongoing 
professional development as clinicians. It is suggested that a further 0.5 of a PA is added per doctor per 
week for travel time.  
 
The current service in Salford is predominantly a consultant led service, the workforce consists of 8.6 
WTE (6 WTE consultants and 2.6 WTE non-consultant grade staff).  Using the formula above, the 
workforce required to deliver the 88.5 PAs is 12.6 WTE2. This is a shortfall of 4 WTE within the Salford 
service. (Allowing a ratio of 7.5 PAs to 2.5 SPAs and travel time would mean 11.8 WTE were needed to 
deliver the 88.5 PAs.) 
 

                                                                 
2 88.5 divided by 7 as 1 WTE is 10 PAs, of which 3 are SPA + travel time and thus excluded = 7 PAs for clinical care & statutory roles Page 73



 

Business Case document suite Page 24 01/09/2021 

3.2 Objectives 
The PAs outlined above will allow the service to provide the revised service specification, and 
deliver the objectives below: 
 Provide an accessible service offering co-ordinated assessment, diagnosis, management 

and review to children, young people and their families  

 Utilise appropriate settings for the child/young person, taking into account their 
preferences - this may include clinic, school or home 

 Ensure children, young people and their families only have to tell their story once, even if 
they access different professionals within the service 

 Provide clear and understandable information to children, young people and their families 
about how to get help, about what to expect from a service, any treatment options and 
progress 

 Ensure children, young people and their families are involved in discussions about their 
treatment and care, that any treatment goals are agreed with them, that they are involved 
in decisions about their health and support to self-care if appropriate 

 Enable children, young people and their families to influence service development and 
design and monitor quality of care  

 Deliver integrated care pathways and support based around the needs of children and 
young people  

 Ensure that children and young people’s emotional and mental health and social needs 
are considered alongside their physical health needs 

 Ensure that children and young people leaving the service have an agreed and 
documented transition plan that supports self-management where possible 

 Actively support children and young people through the transition process, using 
pathways and protocols agreed with partners   

 Take a coordinated response to ensure compliance with all statutory responsibilities, 
specifically in relation to looked after children, those with special education needs and 
safeguarding 

 Provide advice, support and training where appropriate to enable families, carers and 
other practitioners to care for and support children and young people 

 Ensure that every contact counts as an opportunity to promote, maintain and, where 
possible, improve children’s and young people’s physical health and emotional wellbeing.  

 Provide an efficient, effective, flexible and responsive service that reduces repetition and 
delivers best value, including development of innovative solutions using new and 
emerging technologies.  

 

3.3 Scope 
This business case is for additional recurrent resource into the CPS. It will be reviewed at the end of the 
first year of operation to ensure that assumptions made within the specification and corresponding 
business case are accurate. This will also allow for any adjustments required as part of the development 
of the GM Integrated Care System (ICS). 
 
The CPS is a city-wide service and is available to all children and young people 0-18yrs (19yrs if in 
specialist full time education). Young people 19-25yrs with an EHCP will be seen for assessment only. 
The service is for children and young people who are registered with a Salford GP or who live in Salford.  
 
The service is currently provided by Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust and is predominantly a 
consultant led service. However, there is also an associate specialist and a specialty doctor, (both 
medical staff with expertise in the specialty but not trained to consultant level) and a specialist nurse 
(10 staff - 6WTE consultants and 2.6WTE non-consultant grade staff).   
 

Page 74



 

Business Case document suite Page 25 01/09/2021 

The service also delivers designated doctor functions for safeguarding, LAC, SEND and child deaths. 
These are statutory roles that assist primary care organisations in fulfilling their responsibilities as 
commissioner of services to improve the health of key groups of vulnerable children. The designated 
role is intended to be a strategic one, separate from any responsibilities for individual children or young 
people, although the professionals may also provide a direct service to children and young people 
outside their designated role. These functions also support partner organisations like the local authority. 
N.B. There may need to be refinements to the designated doctor roles currently delivered on behalf of 
the CCG as the work around the GM Integrated Care System progresses.  
 
This business case relates to community paediatrics, which is different to general paediatrics as it is a 
specialist area, working with children with complex needs. General paediatrics focusses more on acutely 
unwell children with common paediatric illnesses. (The general paediatric clinics are part of the 
paediatric outpatient service and are for children with general medical problems such as poor weight 
gain, cough, GI symptoms etc. These also include the specialist clinics of asthma, diabetes, continence 
and allergy). These are not part of this business case. 
 

3.4 Risks (business and operational) 
As highlighted above, there are pressures on the current service through national changes like the 
introduction of the Children & Families Act (2014), rises in safeguarding cases and neuro-developmental 
conditions and local predicted population increases. The service is currently managing this increased 
demand through prioritising clinical activity over supporting professional activ ities. However, this 
discretionary effort is contrary to the recommendations of the Royal Colleges and is not sustainable in 
the long term.  
 
The risk is that if the service is unable to secure additional investment it will be unable to maintain the 
level of current provision. This will mean that the service is unable to continue to provide some services, 
the service specification will need to be scaled back and potentially young people will either not receive 
a service or will wait much longer to access care. In addition, it will impact on the achievement of 
statutory requirements for LAC, SEND and section 47 medicals – see below. 
 
Table 7: Risks 

Risk Probability Impact Score 

Inability of the service to provide the full  service 
specification inc. involvement in transformation 

4 4 16 

Increased waiting times for CYP to access the service 3 4 12 

Staff burn out due to workload pressure 3 4 12 

Changing demography in Salford 2 3 6 

 

3.5 Anticipated Outcomes 
The vision for the 0-25 Transformation programme is ‘To enable all children and young people in Salford 
to achieve their potential’.  The Starting Well element of the Salford  Locality Plan aims to ensure that: 

 I am a child who is physically and emotionally healthy, feels safe and is able to live life in a 
positive way 

 I am a young person who will achieve their potential in life with great learning and 
employment opportunities 

 I am as good a parent as I can be 

Page 75



 

Business Case document suite Page 26 01/09/2021 

The community paediatric service (CPS) sits under this overall remit. The desired outcomes for the 
service are outlined in the Project Description section above. Achievement of these will be measured 
through the new outcome framework within the service specification.  
 
The service works collaboratively with partners across health, education and social care, and 
the importance of MDT working is highlighted within the service specification. There was a 
consultation with stakeholders, staff, parents / carers and children and young people as part of 
the service review. This identified the need to improve the pathway for children with ADHD / 
ASD / complex SEMH needs, issues around transition for some young people with complex 
needs, the importance of MDT working and issues managing an increasing population with 
increasingly more complex needs. This information has fed into the new service specification. 
 
The service is key to the achievement of statutory requirements around completion of initial 
health assessments for children who are looked after (within 20 workings days of the child 
becoming looked after); section 47 medicals - provision of an urgent medial assessment to 
determine & document harm following suspicion of child maltreatment within 24 hrs; provision 
of medical advice for an Education Health & Care Plan (within 6 weeks of a request) and 
achievement of epilepsy best practice guidance to see those referred within 2 wks. Many of 
these requests come through partner agencies and contribute to the achievement of broader 
targets. 
 
3.6 Strategic Alignment 
The service is key to achievement of statutory requirements (see above), and the delivery of 
local strategies like the SEND Strategy, elements of the 0-25 Transformation programme and 
MDT working. The designated roles support the CCG and the system in the achievement of 
statutory functions for LAC, safeguarding, SEND and child deaths.  
 
 
 

Page 76



 

Business Case document suite Page 27 01/09/2021 

Section 4 Non-financial Option Development    ……… 

 
4.1 Benefit Criteria 
Below are the benefits to stakeholders delivered by the service. These are measured within the 
outcome framework or additional SLAs / service specifications. Each of the benefits has been 
weighted to a total of 100 points – see Table 7 below.  
 
Table 8: Benefit Criteria 

BENEFIT CRITERIA DESCRIPTION WEIGHTING 
(%) 

BC1: National 

Standards 

 Achievement of national standards (including IHA for LAC 

within 20 working days, Section 47 medical within 24 hrs, 
medical advice for EHCP within 6 wks, new referrals for 
epilepsy seen within 2 wks) 

 

20 

BC2: Designated Drs  Delivery of Designated Dr functions for safeguarding, LAC, 
SEND & child deaths in l ine with SLAs / service specs  

 
20 

BC3: Support to 

partners 

 Support to partner agencies through provision of A&G, 

participation in MDTs & medical advice for fostering & 
adoption 

 

20 

BC4: ND Pathway  Delivery of clinical elements of the new Neuro-developmental 
pathway ensuring a better experience for CYP & their families  

 
20 

BC5: Clinical 
assessments 

 Provision of clinical assessments for children with complex 
needs in a more responsive and timely manner 

20 
 

 
TOTAL 

 

 
100 

 
4.2 Impact on the Local Community and Environment 
The new service specification contains additional standards around social value and equality, diversity 
and inclusion. This requires the service to comply with the Public Sector Equality Duty (2010) requiring 
services to pay due regard to promoting equality of opportunity in service provision and employment 
for all protected characteristics, and the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012. The outcomes 
framework includes a qualitative measure around a case study to show how service the service has 
addressed social value. 
 
In addition, Salford Royal is a Teaching trust and the paediatricians contribute to delivery of both 
undergraduate and postgraduate training. The community paediatric service is committed to teaching 
and was the first service in the NW to be able to provide grid training in neuro-disability.  They have a 
strong history of ‘growing’ their own consultants, with doctors who have trained with the service keen 
to return as consultants. They are also active in undergraduate teaching for medical students and 
provide teaching for many other services and partners.  
 
4.3 Options & Options Appraisal  
Option 1 - Do nothing – Do not implement the new service specification.  This would mean the service 
continues to deliver mandatory elements of the specification (see Table 6 above); however the required 
elements would be scaled back leading to potential increased waits for children and young people to 
access the service and other elements would not be taken forward. Participation in transformation 
projects like the neuro-developmental pathway and MDT meetings for children with complex needs 
would need to be re-evaluated. Not implementing the new specification will mean the service is not fully 
meeting the needs of vulnerable children and young people in Salford, that children and young people 

Page 77



 

Business Case document suite Page 28 01/09/2021 

are waiting longer to be seen with the potential to impact on national standards and an additional 
burden is placed on other services that need to undertake additional responsibilities.   
 
Option 2 – Partial delivery of the new service specification – this would see some additional investment 
into the service that would mean mandatory elements are covered and required elements are prioritised 
so that some could be taken forward and others would be scaled back as in option 1. Participation in 
transformation projects like the neuro-developmental pathway and MDT meetings for children with 
complex needs would need to be re-evaluated. As with option 1, not implementing the new specification 
will mean the service is not fully meeting the needs of vulnerable children and young people in Salford, 
that children and young people are waiting longer to be seen with the potential to impact on national 
standards and an additional burden is placed on other services that need to undertake additional 
responsibilities.  It will be difficult to prioritise some services over others to determine what will remain 
as part of the service specification, as the weighting criteria above has highlighted that all parts of the 
service are of equal value. Stratification of the service may lead to unintended consequences.  
 
Option 3 – Complete delivery of the new service specification - The new service specification is 
implemented (as set out in Table 6 above).  This will mean realisation of the benefit criteria in Table 8. 
 
The above options are scored against the weighted benefit criteria from Table 7. Scoring is on a scale of 
0-10, where 0=does not meet benefit criteria at all and 10=meets the benefit criteria extremely well / 
could not be bettered. The outcome of this is presented in Table 9 below. 
 
Table 9: Weighted Options 

 Option1 Option 2 Option 3 

Benefit 
criteria 

Weight Score Weighted 
score 

Score Weighted 
score 

Score Weighted 
score 

BC1 20 8 160 9 180 10 200 

BC2 20 8 160 9 180 10 200 

BC3 20 2 40 4 80 10 200 

BC4 20 0 0 4 80 8 160 

BC5 20 2 40 5 100 10 200 

Total 100 20 400 31 620  960 

 
4.4 Recommended Option 
From the above non-financial assessment, Option 3 is the strongest option, but this must be tested 
further against financial parameters. There is a note of caution around realisation of benefit criteria 4 as 
the pathway is new and it is difficult at this stage to gauge the total demand, this will be monitored 
closely over the first year.      
 
The implications of supporting option 3 are that extra investment will be required (see section 5 below). 
It will also require the recruitment of additional staff. However, this will mean that the workload is more 
equitably distributed which will have a positive impact on morale within the existing staff team and will 
mean that the existing staff are able to utilise their SPAs to ensure continuing professional development 
and revalidation, in line with Royal College recommendations. 
 
It will also mean that the service is able to support other clinical services (through A&G and clinical 
supervision) and wider stakeholders (through MDTs and designated roles). It should mean the 
achievement of national standards and a timely and accessible service for children and young people. 
 
4.5 Risk Assessment 

Page 78



 

Business Case document suite Page 29 01/09/2021 

The risks of not implementing the new service specification are outlined in section 3.4 above.  
 
However, there are also risks inherent in agreeing the additional investment. Principle of these is the 
need to recruit additional staff. The risk is mitigated by the fact that SRFT is a teaching hospital; staff are 
attracted to the posts and often wish to stay.  In addition, the recruitment is for a skill mix, not just 
consultants, and this may make the posts easier to fill.  
 
While the above job opportunities are welcome in terms of sustainability and social value, there will 
need to be mitigations put in place to ensure that any increases in the carbon footprint are managed 
through the organisations green plan. 
 
The service is integral to service developments that are part of the 0-25 transformation programme, 
including the new neuro-developmental pathway, being developed in conjunction with CAMHS. This will 
mean that all autism (ASD) and ADHD diagnostic assessments, which were previously undertaken within 
CAMHS, are gradually moving across to the CPS. As noted above, the neuro-developmental pathway is 
new and it is difficult to gauge the total demand that this will generate for the  CPS. This will need to be 
monitored closely over the first year.      
 
There are national pressures like the increase in EHCPs and increasing numbers of LAC, Child Protection 
and ASD cases that are being felt in Salford. The number of requests for health advice within EHCPs has 
stabilised, but it has stabilised at a higher number than the old statements of educational need and is 
therefore a pressure on the service. Salford has high numbers of looked after children which all require 
an initial health assessment by a community paediatrician within 20 working days of becoming looked 
after. In addition, the city growth is expected to continue with a further 12,000 residents in the next five 
years. The 0-25 population (83,700 in 2019) is projected to grow by 5% over the next five years. The new 
specification attempts to accommodate these increases, but they remain a potential risk to service 
delivery. 
 
Table 10: Risks 

Risk Probability Impact Score 
Inability to recruit additional staff 2 4 8 

Mitigations for increases in carbon footprint 2 2 4 

Impact of the neuro-developmental pathway 2 3 6 

Changing demography in Salford 2 3 6 

    

 

Page 79



 

Business Case document suite Page 30 01/09/2021 

Section 5 Financial Option Appraisal     
 
5.1 Existing Financial Costs  
The current finances within the CPS service are in Table 11 below. This provides for current Salford 
service consisting of 10 staff – 6 WTE consultants and 2.6 WTE non-consultant grade staff (8.6 WTE).  It 
is predominantly a consultant led service, but there is also an associate specialist, a specialty doctor and 
a specialist nurse.  
 
Table 11: Finances 2020/21  

Community Paediatrics (Medical Child Health) 
Inc. 

Designated Dr for Looked after Children 
Designated Dr for Safeguarding £920,363 

Designated Medical Officer for SEND £55,104* 

Designated paediatrician for unexpected deaths in childhood £21,320 

Total £996,787 
* This figure is for 5 PAs which is spread across the DMO (community paediatrician) for 2PAs and the DCO (consultant speech and language 
therapist) for 3PAs 

 
The new service specification highlights that 88.5 PAs are required to deliver clinical care and statutory 
roles. (In addition, a further 2.5 SPAs are recommended per consultant per week to underpin clinical 
care and a further 0.5 of a PA per doctor per week is suggested for travel time.) Therefore, the workforce 
required to deliver the 88.5 PAs is 12.6 WTE - a shortfall of 4 WTE within the Salford service. (A ratio of 
7.5 PAs to 2.5 SPAs and travel time would mean 11.8 WTE were needed to deliver the 88.5 PAs – a 
shortfall of 3.2 WTE.) 
 

5.2 Costed Options 
Option 1 - Do nothing: this would not require any additional investment into the service.  
 
Option 2 – Partial delivery of the new service specification: this would see some additional investment 
into the service, although as noted above it is difficult to prioritise elements of the service specification 
over others. The costing 2 below is for 1 WTE consultant and 1 WTE staff grade.  
 

Posts 20/21 rate WTE 0.5% uplift - 21/22 

Consultants £135,711.00 1.00 £136,389.56 

Staff Grade Practitioners  £87,764.47 1.00 £88,203.29 

Total Costings  £223,475.47 2.00 £224,592.85* 
*These are the full costs (including all on costs) 

 
Option 3 – Complete delivery of the new service specification (based on 7 PAs and 3 SPAs and travel 
time) – this would see an additional 4 WTE staff within the service. 
 

Posts 20/21 rate WTE 20/21 0.5% uplift - 21/22 

Consultants £135,711.00 3.00 £407,133.00 £409,168.68 

Staff Grade Practitioners  £87,764.47 1.00 £87,764.47 £88,203.29 

Total Costings   4.00 £494,897.47 £497,371.97 

 

Page 80



 

Business Case document suite Page 31 01/09/2021 

The above staffing mix is based on the current ratio of consultants to staff grades within the existing 
team, where approximately 30% of the team is made up of non-consultant grade staff.  A saving could 
be made by looking at a 50/50 split between consultant and non-consultant grade staff (£449,186.24 in 
2021/22). 
 
Another saving could be made by changing the ratio of PAs to SPAs + travel time (see option 4 below). 
This is based on a ratio of 7.5 PAs to 2.5 SPAs + travel time which would mean 11.8 WTE were needed 
to deliver the 88.5 PAs, an addition of 3.2 WTE. 
 
Option 4 

Posts 20/21 rate WTE 20/21 0.5% uplift - 21/22 

Consultants £135,711.00 2.00 £271,422.00 £272,779.11 

Staff Grade Practitioners  £87,764.47 1.20 £105,317.36 £105,843.95 

Total Costings   3.20 £376,739.36 £378,623.06 

 
Following discussion at Service and Finance Group and liaison with the service, a different skill mix is 
being proposed to try to keep costs to a minimum, but still deliver the new service specification – see 
option 5 below. This significantly reduces the number of consultant and staff grade posts required, by 
increasing the number of nursing staff within the service. 
 
Option 5 

PAY WTE 20/21 Costings 

Consultant 1.00 £135,110.00   

Staff Grade Practitioner 1.00 £87,764.00   

B8a ANP 1.00 £57,433.00   

B7 Nurse 0.20 £10,241.00   

B5 Nurse uplift 0.00 £4,204.00   

B4 HCA 1.00 £29,752.00   

B4 Admin 1.00 £29,752.00   

PAY Costings     £354,256.00 

Non Pay  

Training   £2,000.00   

IT    £5,000.00   

Travel   £3,000.00   

Non Pay Costings     £10,000.00 

Grand Total     £364,256.00 

 
The Consultant, Staff Grade, Band 8a ANP, Band 4 HCA and Band 4 Admin will be new posts. The 0.2 
Band 7 creates a full-time post for the current Band 7 in the team. In addition, there is uplift for one of 
the existing Band 4 HCA posts involved in the neuro-development work to create a Band 5 post to allow 
further development of the case management role. (This will release some of the current Band 7 time 
to support the medical team). With the reductions in Consultant and Staff Grade posts, there are 
additional training requirements for the Band 8a ANP, Band 7 and Band 5 nurses around assessments 
i.e. ADOS and observations, condition management and prescribing.  
 
5.3 Issues to Consider  

Page 81



 

Business Case document suite Page 32 01/09/2021 

1) Provision of advice and guidance may lead to a change in referrals into the service, if 
referrals reduce significantly then this may allow for greater clinic capacity and / or reduced 
waiting times 

2) Future provision of designated doctor roles - these are statutory roles that assist CCGs in 
fulfilling their responsibilities as commissioner of services, however with the dissolution of 
CCGs by March 31.03.22, it remains to be seen whether these roles are required in the 
current format in the future. This accounts for 12 PAs currently and may mean that it would 
be prudent to stagger the investment and / or recruitment of posts until there is more clarity 
on the future of designated doctor requirements within the new integrated care system 
(ICS). 

 
 
 

5.4 Non-Financial Benefits 
Table 7 in section 3.4 above identifies the risks associated with non-investment into the service. This 
highlights the risk of staff burn out due to workload pressure as the  service is currently managing 
increased demand through prioritising clinical activity over supporting professional activi ties. This 
discretionary effort is contrary to the recommendations of the Royal Colleges and is not sustainable in 
the long term. One of the non-financial benefits of the additional investment will be to support staff 
morale, and hopefully lead to better productivity through less illness.  
 
 
  

Page 82



 

Business Case document suite Page 33 01/09/2021 

Section 6 Recommended Option ………                   
 
6.1 Recommended option 
The recommended option is to support option 3 – complete delivery of the new service 
specification. This will ensure opportunities for realisation of the benefit criteria identified within 
the business case, namely: 
 
1. Achievement of national standards (including IHA for LAC within 20 working days, Section 

47 medical within 24 hrs, medical advice for EHCP within 6 wks, new referrals for epilepsy 
seen within 2 wks) 

2. Delivery of Designated Dr functions for safeguarding, LAC, SEND & child deaths in line with 
SLAs / service specs to support the CCG 

3. Support to partner agencies through provision of A&G, participation in MDTs & medical 
advice for fostering & adoption 

4. Delivery of the clinical elements of the new Neuro-developmental pathway transformation 
project ensuring a better experience for CYP & their families 

5. Provision of clinical assessments for children with complex needs in a more responsive and 
timely manner 

It will also ensure that the new service specification is delivered in its entirety, meaning better 
outcomes for vulnerable children and young people as identified above. 
 
6.2 Considerations 
In order to progress the recommended option, an additional investment of £364,256.00 will need to be 
identified. This is based on costed option 5 which shows the alternative skill mix for the team.   
 
In addition, the future need for the designated doctor roles is unclear at this moment in time as 
they are aligned to the CCG which will not exist from April 2022. This accounts for 12 PAs 
currently and may mean that it would be prudent to stagger the recruitment of posts until there 
is more clarity on the future of designated doctor requirements within the ICS. 
  
The other risks identified within section 4.5 will also need to be managed.  
 

  
 
  

Page 83



 

Business Case document suite Page 34 01/09/2021 

Section 7 Project Management Arrangements    …………                   
 
If the preferred delivery option is agreed, the CCG will work with SRFT to oversee recruitment 
and the mobilisation, implementation and delivery of the new service specification. The 
recruitment may take a number of months, and in the light of this performance reporting against 
the new specification will be phased in. 
 
If the preferred option is not approved, then there will need to be a process of revision to the 
service specification in conjunction with SRFT and wider stakeholders.   
 
The current CCG reporting governance structure for the CPS is through Children & Young 
People’s Commissioning Group, to Programme Oversight Group and Children’s Commissioning 
Committee as appropriate.   
  
The CCG will evaluate delivery against the new service specification after 12 months to understand if it 
is delivering the desired outcomes for children and young people in Salford. This will include reviewing 
any potential savings as outlined above, and any benefits realisation.   
 
 

Page 84



 

Business Case document suite Page 35 01/09/2021 

Section 8 Appendices    …………                   
 
Appendix One: Community Paediatrics Service Specification & Outcomes Framework 
 

CPS Service 
Specification 2021-24 v11 .pdf

 
 
 
 

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



| 1

Sub-Group/Programme:        Therapies ERG (SLCN & OT / PT) Lead:  Tori Quinn

Work programme context:
OT/PT
This is a continuation of the therapies test for change work. It builds on the SLCN review and re-specification and is a joint service review of OT / PT with a view to 
developing a new joint, outcome-focussed, service specification across the CCG and LA.
SLCN
Focussed on implementation of the new specification based on the new schools based delivery model N.B. COVID-19 has affected delivery of the full specification.
COVID has caused significant disruption to service delivery, altering the needs and demands on the services. This will affect the full delivery of the SLCN specification.
The provider has developed proposals to ensure provision for children in the current context, but recovery to pre-COVID levels may take some time. The service
expects to be back to full allocation in schools from September 2021.

Programme structure and implementation:
OT / PT working group that meets to review current service and develop new service specification feeding into Therapies ERG.
SLCN implementing the new specification, reporting to Therapies ERG with task & finish groups established around particular issues.
Exception reporting through to POG

Progress summary (last 8 weeks): (high level and by exception)
SLCN
• Still pressure on delivery of EHCP hours & staff are learning to use the new EHCP hub 

for new assessments which is taking time
• 2xB5 SLTS recruited and started 09/08, 1xB4 SLT starting 23/08, 1xB5 due to start 

soon. Have appointed to the Team Lead for Complex Needs Role. 
Neurodevelopmental Coordinator Role extended again. Still a number of vacancies 
remain

OT / PT
• Continue to risk assess for Face to face appointments and use Virtual appointments 

for initial and follow up appointment where it is perceived this should be tried first
• Shallow Water Training for physio team to be able to safely run Hydrotherapy 

planned for 2/9. After this Hydro will recommence but on a reduced offer to enable 
safe IPC practices. Therefore, need to prioritise who is invited to attend

• Unable to recruit to Full time B7 OT – Complex Needs lead role (advertised twice) –
no locums or bank staff available either

• Cancellations have reduced slightly in Aug but still higher than average for time of 
year

• Plan to build an additional clinic room at Pendleton Gateway stalled due to increasing 
costs

Outlook summary: (next 8 weeks) 
SLCN
• Continue to risk assess service delivery
• Induct new staff & recruit additional staff
• Completion and sharing of report reviewing delivery of the new service 

specification in its first year
• Obtain final sign-off of SCC contribution to joint commission

OT / PT
 New clinic template to commence September 2021 to enable 

increased number of Face to face appointments, longer app times 
needed to accommodate IPC

 To readvertise B7 OT post in September with support from HR, Cover 
for work planned by B6 working increased hours and Team Leader 
needing to prioritise increasing clinical caseload. Will need to manage 
at risk

 Service to move office base to St James’s House 18/8/21
 Service review- Proposals for New services ( Sensory Processing/ 

Upper Limb Splinting/ Orthotics Services) and MSK and whole Service 
additional investment to be finalised with finance this week

0-25 Transformation: Highlight Report
Please return to Clare Hopton clare.hopton@salford.gov.uk

P
age 87

A
genda Item

 8



Risks 

1. Estates: lack of adequate therapy space in some schools and difficulties in travelling across a number of school sites where staff are often not trained to be able to support 
the child. Any new specialist input into schools needs additional resource that needs to be factored in

2. Post 16yr olds: increasing numbers with EHCPs are accessing post 16 learning pathways e.g. 213 young people in City College with EHCPs requiring input, albeit not all with 
therapeutic needs, 75 young people who have moved from Year 11 to college who would require ongoing SALT input. The majority have EHCPs with SALT hours, with many 
of them continuing to stay on at Oakwood and Chatsworth college provision

3. Achievement of stated EHCP hrs:  if EHCP hrs are prioritised in the current situation then preventative work is not being done which will impact in the longer term, 
potentially with increased numbers of EHCPs. Also it is not always possible to deliver what is stated in the Plan due to COVID restrictions, however there is no longer the 
relaxation of the legislation to ‘reasonable endeavours’ as there was  in the initial months of the pandemic

4. Developmental Language Disorder: this is under-identified in Salford, work is ongoing to raise awareness and if this leads to greater identification, then this may mean that 
there needs to be a re-prioritisation of resource based on need, which may mean that some CYP no longer receive a service

5. Gaps identified in new SLCN service specification: lack of provision for PRU’s and independent Jewish schools
6. Staffing issues: SaLT have had experienced staff leave and have struggled to recruit to vacancies, OT / PT need locum cover and do not have the capacity to engage in the 

business case development at the moment
7. Impact of managing children from out of area – Shirley Gallagher-Woods is leading  some GM work on this area & SaLT is contributing data 
8. Moving and Handling Risks Assessments in Schools: As the employer schools have duty of care to ensure employees and pupils are safe, including adequate training, 

equipment and policies being place. This is not happening in all mainstream schools and has been raised with management but not yet implemented
9. COVID-19 Impact: Late cancellations due to isolating/bubble closures means slots go unutilised.  Additional cleaning is also required meaning clinic slot times have been 

increased. Both of these issues risk increasing waiting times

Summary of Risk Summary of Mitigation RAG Rating 

Post 16yrs 1. Review the data and scope the provision 16+ 

Estates issues 1. Proposed Changes to education estate shared at LA/CCG Liaison Meeting
2. LA/CCG  planning on health services in special schools – meetings to be resumed

Gaps in SLCN service specification 1. Training to be offered to independent Jewish schools – this has been taken up 
2. 16+ in schools & colleges & PRU’s to be explored as part of first year review of the spec

Staffing Issues 1. SaLT have appointed newly qualified staff and will train them up but this will be more   resource 
intensive in the short term

Out of Area issues 1. SaLT are contributing data to the GM review of this area

Financial spend/requests:

Business case to be prepared for additional investment in OT /PT to ensure future service addresses gaps identified within the review.

Issues for escalation ( through 0-25 Advisory Board and/or Commissioning Committee)

Upcoming Milestones/Next steps/Key Decisions Date

Re-specification of OT / PT service & business case to support additional resource ? CCG awaiting data from SRFT

P
age 88



| 1

Sub-Group/Programme:        CAN ERG                                                          Lead: Debbie Blackburn 

Work programme context: Our ambition in Salford is for a well-planned continuum of provision from birth to age 25 that meets the
needs of children and young people with Special Educational Needs or Disability (SEND) and their families at the earliest point.
This will be achieved through:
• Integrated services and pathways across education, health and social care which work in partnership with parents and carers.
• Processes that are developed within a Needs and Outcomes Framework.

It also means a strong commitment to early intervention and prevention so that children’s and young people’s needs are met at the
earliest opportunity and do not escalate and thus require interventions at a much higher level.

Progress summary (last 8 weeks): (high level and by exception)
• Neuro developmental pathway audit of training for parents and 

professionals now live
• A Senior Pathway coordinator has now been appointed for a 12-

month secondment in order to design a business case for recurrent 
funding and support the work of the NDP.

• A workshop has taken place to map out the NDP and links to other 
key pathways.  

• Initial discussions have taken place to work towards streamlining the 
pathway – add more admin hours and reduce unnecessary admin 
tasks.

• Transferring TCS into Social care has been further deferred but 
arrangements for Clinical Psychology input starts in September 

• Full team of keyworkers by the 14th September. First Keyworker 
dealing with some very challenging cases.

• Possibility of further funding from GM to expand TCS. Awaiting 
further details.

• Referral process has tightened and staff feel they have all relevant 
information. We are working more closely with R29 now.

Outlook summary: (next 8 weeks) 
• Senior pathway coordinator to start in post.
• Clarify tasks and role for Senior Pathway Coordinator – they 

will support triage.
• Arrangements for additional admin support to be 

confirmed.
• Set up effective performance management
• Progress  TCS service moving to CWD team
• Firm up TCS and Keyworker reporting systems 

0-25 Transformation 
Highlight Report

P
age 89



Upcoming Milestones/Next steps/Key Decisions Date

Senior pathway coordinator to start in post
Triage process to be made more frequent for Liquid Logic
Arrangements to be confirmed for more admin support for the NDP

1st September
6th September onwards
September

Risks 

CAMHs waiting list for neuro dev
Neuro pathway complexity of interlinking aspects needs careful consideration.
Staff turnover for Neuro dev- 3 experienced members of staff leaving/have left
Numbers of referrals coming into the pathway
Triage arrangements and Liquid Logic

Summary of Risk Summary of Mitigation RAG Rating 

Non delivery of Neuro needs led pathway Need to agree staff in key roles ie triage
Lack of short breaks provision for families Review and plan to mitigate impact on families
Impact of covid on provision to families Negotiations with providers

Financial spend/requests:

Neuro Dev business case recurrent funding to be determined by senior pathway coordinator and commissioners.

Please return to Clare Hopton clare.hopton@salford.gov.uk

P
age 90



| 1

Sub-Group/Programme:        Lead: 

Work programme context:
Salford Thrive: supporting children and young people’s emotional health and wellbeing
Programme structure and implementation:
Our structure chart needs updating to reflect recent developments, especially around MHiE which includes the 
Following: 1) Thrive in Education Programme Oversight Board, 2) TIE Operational Mgt Group, 3)  TIE expert 
reference group, which replaces the longstanding working group. In addition, there is a task and finish group
supporting the development of a sports/physical activity on prescription pathway. and will advise the board and 
undertake work to further develop and support the Thrive in Education Agenda.
The Early Years working Group no longer exists but other working groups have met to feed into the PIMH work and
business case which will now sit under the 1001 Days work plan (under Becky Bibby).

Progress summary (last 8 weeks): (high level and by exception)
• Thrive in Education programme: Q1 report showed that between April - June 21, 

240 YP have been supported/were receiving support. 122 cases had been closed, 
of which 107 had 2+ contacts. There were 135 referrals of which 94% were 
accepted. The Peer support pilot proposal has been finalised and includes plans to 
work with 2 high schools starting in Sept, with Youth Service acting as co-
Ordinator. GM have now confirmed year 2 funding so we are hoping to expand 
this to 4 high schools in the new school year.  

• Neuro Devt: a Senior ND Pathway Co-ordinator secondment has been successfully 
appointed and due to start in sept. 

• PIMH work programme: the PIMH Implementation Group  will meet until end of 
March to support initial scoping and implementation phase. CCG/Council has 
approved increased costs for extended Child and Parent team and MFT have been 
requested to recruit to the 3 new posts ASAP. A workshop to review Dad’s Matter 
took place in July and CCG have extended funding to end of March to allow time 
for a business case to seek continued funding as part of the PIMH offer. A PIMH 
partnership workshop has been arranged for 13/10 to bring together operational 
and delivery staff across all partners to work up the joint vision and plans for an 
integrated  delivery team and co-location in salford.

• Surge Pressures: all providers continue to report service pressures resulting from 
increased demand and significant complexity/acuity and the of pressures on the 
workforce. CAMHS is carrying a number of vacancies and struggling to recruit to 
these. Funding has not yet been identified to support the proposal for increased 
capacity to recruit a dedicated worker in the bridge & to test a SPoA model for GP 
referrals and self referrals.

Outlook summary: (next 8 weeks) 
• DDN for peer support pilot to be completed by end August.
• Continued  CAMHS Surge joint work to progress system transformation 

proposals around new pathways: 1. For 7 day follow ups from A&E to a) 
reduce the burden on CAMHS, b) widen the support/options for children 
and families c) reduce the repeat attendances to A&E through targeted 
follow up with YP and referring professionals (especially schools) and 
education around alternative strategies and how to access timely advice 
and support when needed. 2. To test a Single Point of Access via the 
Bridge multi- agency / system transformation). 

• CAMHS COVID surge plan to ‘business as usual’ now been deferred due 
to on-going service pressures and will be reviewed again in Sept/Oct.

• GM are co-ordinating a meeting with Kooth and Salford Council & CCG 
to agree a comms plan/campaign to raise the profile of Kooth which 
received significantly lower referrals/engagement in Q1 than was 
expected. This is key to reducing the pressures on CAMHS and 42nd st. a 
real focus will be on schools and GPs encouraging YP/Parents to use 
Kooth, but we also need to explore how referrals can be made form 
services as they currently on accept self registrations.

• The Thrive Directory has been expanded & soft launched to include 
training for schools and wrap around support for adolescents. This 
requires a formal launch and staff briefing sessions/lunchbowls from 
Sept. 

• Ongoing - Thrive Network: weekly email updates, EHWB webpages being 
kept updated, online directory updated and analytics show is well used.

0-25 Transformation: Highlight Report
Please return to Clare Hopton clare.hopton@salford.gov.uk

P
age 91



Upcoming Milestones/Next steps/Key Decisions Date

As described on previous outlook, plus:
• Scoping  for use of MHIS unallocated funding in Salford to be undertaken Aug/Sept 21

Risks 

Ongoing pressure of managing Thrive / CYP MH work programme. Whilst we were successful in recruiting a dedicated Commissioning Manager to support this
programme, the other Commissioning Manager has handed in notice to take up a new role in CCG. This means that the new recruit will be picking up other work that
was not intended for them to do and this will limit their capacity to take on core CYPMH work. We will monitor/review in December 2021.

Surge demand and pressures in CYP MH services are ongoing and will continue to be monitored in the usual way. CAMHS COVID Surge Plan prioritisation was planned
to return to ‘business as usual in May 2021 but this has now been deferred and will be reviewed in Sept/Oct. We remain unclear about how we can fund the proposals
to support CAMHS surge and to support system re-design in response to COVID pressures. We need the Salford system to make better use of the Kooth offer from Sept
to help reduce pressure elsewhere in the system.

Summary of Risk Summary of Mitigation RAG Rating 
COVID surge, service and CYPMH system 
pressures

1. Service updates and COVID Surge Plans published 1st December 2020 – ongoing review and 
comms to wider Thrive system and referrers (GPs, Social Care and Education).

2. Significant vacancies in CAMHS  that have not yet been recruited and internal issues to getting 
these approved. Notification in July that the CAMHS School (TiE / MHST) lead is taking a 
secondment in MCFC. A new TiE Schools lead will need to be recruited.

3. 42nd street have a number of new starters taking up new posts in Salford in June. The 42nd st
Schools and College Lead is moving back to an SCC Early Help role and a new TiE lead will have 
to be recruited.

4. Services are doing their best to manage staff wellbeing and providing increased flexibility 
5. Discussions between CGG , GM and MFT re CYPMH funding flow and how we can fund the 

proposals received from CAMHS to support system transformation have not yet been resolved. 
CCG/Council MH finance group now meeting regularly to review MHIS plans/financial pressures 
and funding requirements.

Financial spend/requests:

• Proposals from CAMHS and Emerge services for additional capacity / Surge Support ( 2 x Band 7 posts). The funding streams for these remains unclear but MHIS
may provide a potential solution for non recurrent funding.

Issues for escalation ( through 0-25 Advisory Board and/or Commissioning Committee)

None.

P
age 92


	Agenda
	3 Draft minutes of the meeting held on 14 July 2021.
	5 Finance Report. (David Warhurst)
	6 Domestic Abuse Business Case (Madha Ayub / Charlotte Ramsden)
	7 Community Paediatrics Service Specification and Business Case (Tori Quinn / Wendy Hodgson)
	8 0-25 Highlight reports from sub groups. (For Information)
	0-25 Highlight report - CAN ERG August 2021
	0-25 Highlight Report - Thrive August 2021


